# SEMMELWEIS EGYETEM DOKTORI ISKOLA

## Ph.D. értekezések

3029.

# GELENCSÉRNÉ KULIN ANNA

Humán molekuláris genetika és géndiagnosztika című program

Programvezető: Dr. Wiener Zoltán, egyetemi docens Témavezető: Dr. Várady György, tudományos főmunkatárs

## Analysis of the potential role of the GLUT1 and the ABCG2 transporters in type 2 diabetes

PhD Thesis

## Anna Gelencsérné Kulin

Semmelweis University Doctoral School Molecular Medicine Division



Supervisor:

György Várady, PhD

Official reviewers:

Tamás Kardon, MD, PhD Viktória Tisza, PhD

Head of the Complex Examination Committee: Edit Buzás, MD, DSc

Members of the Complex Examination Committee: András Váradi, DSc Tamás Kardon, MD, PhD

Budapest 2024

## Table of contents

1. List of abbreviations	5
2. Introduction	7
2.1. Membrane proteins	7
2.1.1. The SLC superfamily – the SLC2 family	8
2.1.1.1. The GLUT1 membrane protein	11
2.1.1.2. Genetic variants in the SLC2A1 gene	13
2.1.2. The ABC superfamily – the ABCG subfamily	16
2.1.2.1. The ABCG2 membrane protein	18
2.1.2.2. The ABCG2-Q141K variant	20
2.2. Type two diabetes mellitus	20
3. Objectives	22
4. Methods	23
4.1. Samples and laboratory data	23
4.2. Flow cytometry	24
4.3. SNP selection and genetic analysis	26
4.4. Design of reporter vector constructs and cloning	27
4.5. Cell culture, transfection, and treatments	28
4.6. Dual luciferase assay	29
4.7. Bioinformatic analysis	30
4.8. Statistical analysis	31
5. Results	32
5.1. GLUT1 expression and type two diabetes	32
5.2. Genetic background of GLUT1 expression	32
5.3. Regulatory background of GLUT1 expression	36
5.3.1. Metabolic factors	36
5.3.2. Transcription factors	38
5.4. SLC2A1 SNPs and ABCG2-Q141K variant in type two diabetes	40
6. Discussion	43
6.1. GLUT1 expression and type two diabetes	44
6.2. Genetic background of GLUT1 expression	44

6.3. Regulatory background of GLUT1 expression	46
6.3.1. Metabolic factors	46
6.3.2. Transcription factors	46
6.4. SLC2A1 SNPs and ABCG2-Q141K variant in type two diabetes	47
7. Conclusions	49
7.1. GLUT1 expression and type 2 diabetes	49
7.2. Genetic background of GLUT1 expression	49
7.3. Regulatory background of GLUT1 expression	49
7.4. SLC2A1 SNPs and ABCG2-Q141K variant in type 2 diabetes	50
8. Summary	51
9. References	52
10. Bibliography of the candidate's publications	66
10.1. Publications related to the Ph.D. dissertation	66
10.2. Other publications	66
11. Acknowledgements	67

## 1. List of abbreviations

ABC	ATP-binding cassette			
ADME-Tox	absorption, distribution, metabolism, excretion and toxicity			
AF	Alexa-Fluor			
ATP	adenosine triphosphate			
BBB	blood brain barrier			
BSA	bovine serum albumin			
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium			
DN	diabetic nephropathy			
DR	diabetic retinopathy			
DRC	Drug Research Center			
EDTA	ethylene diamine tetraacetic acid			
FBS	fetal bovine serum			
FSC	forward scatter			
GLUT	glucose transporter			
GWAS	genome-wide association study			
HbA1c	hemoglobin A1c			
НЕК-293Т	human embryonic kidney 293 cell line			
HepG2	hepatoma cell line			
HOMA	Homeostatic Model Assessment for Insulin Resistance			
LD	linkage disequilibrium			
MAF	minor allele frequency			
Mt	mutant type			
NC	negative control			
Ns	not significant			
PBS	phosphate buffered saline			
PCR	polymerase chain reaction			
PWM	position weight matrices			
RBC	red blood cell			
SD	standard deviation			
SE	standard error			
SLC	solute carrier			

## DOI:10.14753/SE.2025.3029

SNP	single nucleotide polymorphism		
SSC	side scatter		
T1DM	type one diabetes mellitus		
T2DM	type two diabetes mellitus		
TF	transcription factor		
TFBS	transcription factor binding sites		
ТК	thymidine kinase		
WGA	wheat germ agglutinin		
Wt	wild type		

## 2. Introduction

#### 2.1. Membrane proteins

Membrane proteins are essential components of the cells, comprising approximately 30% of the human proteome (1). They play diverse roles in cellular processes, from transport and signal transduction to the formation of cell-connecting structures. My research is centered around membrane transporter proteins in the context of type two diabetes (T2DM) and the potentially associated genetic variants.

Transporters are a class of integral membrane proteins which enable the passage of substances across the membrane. While channels passively allow the diffusion of small molecules down their concentration gradient, carriers specifically bind the substance and often undergo a conformational change during the process. Carriers can be classified into passive (facilitated) and active (primary, secondary) transporters based on their energy utilization. Facilitative transporters, such as GLUT1 (glucose transporter 1), mediate the movement of membrane-impermeant solutes down their concentration gradient (2,3). In contrast, active transporters have the capability to transport solutes against their concentration gradient by investing energy in the process. Primary active transporters, such as ABCG2 (ATP-binding cassette super-family G member 2), directly obtain the energy necessary for the transport through their ATPase activity. Secondary active transporters, on the other hand, carry out transport using the electrochemical ion gradient resulting from the operation of primarily active pumps. In this process, the ion can move along its gradient, which provides free energy for the transport of the other substance against its gradient. Based on the number of substances and the direction of the transport, carriers can further be categorized as uniporters, symporters, and antiporters (3).

The significance of the membrane transporters in the drug development is substantial, since they can impact the ADME-Tox properties (absorption, distribution, metabolism, excretion, and toxicity) of the drugs. Members of the SLC (solute-carrier) and ABC (ATP-binding cassette) transporter superfamily hold particular importance in this regard (4).

#### 2.1.1. The SLC superfamily – the SLC2 family

One of the largest groups of transporters is the so-called solute carrier (SLC) superfamily. Although the members of this superfamily are grouped together based on evolutionary homology, they differ significantly in terms of their mechanism of operation. There are members with secondary active transport function (e.g. SGLT2), while other SLC proteins carry out passive, facilitated diffusion (e.g. GLUT1) (5). According to the simultaneous transport of substances, there are both uniporters, symporters, and antiporters in this group.

The human SLC superfamily includes more than 400 proteins responsible for the transport of a wide variety of substances (ions, amino acids, sugars, etc.). In recent years, SLC transporters have been increasingly recognized as key pharmacological targets (3,5). Currently, 66 SLC protein families can be distinguished (6), based on 20-25% sequence identity (3,7). In addition, a family is usually characterized by the range of transported substrates.

Due to their essential role in the metabolism and the proper functioning of the cell, mutations in the genes encoding SLC proteins can be linked to the development of different diseases. Some mutations – through the reduced or inappropriate function or expression of the proteins – result in an imbalance of ions and metabolites (7,8). According to OMIM (Online Mendelian Inheritance in Man database), nearly half of the members of the superfamily can be linked to hereditary diseases (e.g. S2538 (*SLC25A38*) - anemia) (9), and their polymorphisms are also associated with complex diseases (e.g. MOT11 (*SLC16A11*) – T2DM; GLUT9 (*SLC2A9*) - gout) (10,11). In addition, the SLC proteins can also influence the outcome of the diseases through the absorption and distribution of the drugs, therefore medicines targeting directly SLC proteins are already available (12,13). Such target proteins are mostly found in the SLC5, SLC6, SLC12 and SLC22 families (14).

Currently three SLC families (SLC2, SLC5, SLC50) are known to play a role in maintaining glucose homeostasis, essential for the energy supply of the cells (15,16). The 12 members of the SLC5 family carry glucose with secondary active transport against the gradient, enabled by the transport of sodium ions along their gradient. In addition to glucose, the family has many other substrates, such as other mono- and

disaccharides (galactose, mannose, fructose), anions, vitamins and short chain fatty acids (15). The members specialized to glucose transport are SGLT1 and SGLT2 (sodium glucose cotransporter 1/2; *SLC5A1/2*) proteins. As their main function, SGLT1 performs glucose absorption in the small intestine, while SGLT2 is responsible for the reabsorption of the glucose in the kidney, through the cells of the proximal tubule (17). Both of these transporters show strong association with diabetes, and are already targets of available drugs (18,19).

The SLC50 family is a recently discovered group of proteins with glucose transport function. In humans only one member, SWEET1 (*SLC50A1*) has been described. It is expressed in the intestine, oviduct, epididymis and mammary gland (15). According to some assumptions, in the mammary gland SWEET1 may contribute to lactose synthesis (20), while in the intestine it may contribute to the release of glucose into the bloodstream (15,21).

The glucose transporter (GLUT, SLC2) family with its 14-members is generally characterized as uniporters, that facilitate the passive transport of glucose and other monosaccharides (also some other cyclic compound, such as polyols) along the concentration gradient (22). GLUT13 (*SLC2A13*) is an exception, since it is a proton-linked symporter (also known as HMIT; proton-coupled myoinositol transporter) (23). The members of the family are structurally similar, consisting of approximately 500 amino acids and 12 transmembrane helices (24). The amino- and carboxyl-ends face the cytoplasm. These proteins have a central cytoplasmic linker domain and a single N-linked oligosaccharide chain on the extracellular side (25).

Based on sequence similarity, GLUT proteins can be classified into three groups (22). The Class I (GLUTs 1–4, 14) and Class II (GLUTs 5, 7, 9, and 11) members differ structurally from the Class III (GLUTs 6, 8, 10, 12, and HMIT) proteins in terms of the location of N-linked glycosylation. While in case of Class I and II glycosylation is located on the first extracellular linker domain, in case of Class III it is located on the fifth. Although the mechanism and the structure of the proteins are similar, there are distinct tissue-specific expressions and affinities for substrates (see **Figure 1.**) (22).

Without claiming completeness, the followings section outlines the tissue-specific functions of GLUT transporters. In the small intestine glucose absorption occurs via GLUT7 (along with SGLT1), while fructose enters the enterocytes through GLUT5

(26,27). In the basolateral membrane of the enterocytes GLUT2 is responsible for the export of the monosaccharides to the bloodstream (28). Blood glucose is transported to the red blood cells (RBC) mostly via GLUT1 (29). The circulating glucose crosses the blood brain barrier (BBB) via GLUT1 (30) and reaches the neurons through the GLUT3 transporter (31). In the pancreas, the beta cells sense blood glucose levels by glucose uptake via GLUT1 or GLUT2 (32,33), regulating insulin secretion. In response to the insulin signal, liver cells take up glucose via GLUT2, contributing to its breakdown (glycolysis) or storage as glycogen (34). When insulin reaches muscle and fat cells, glucose uptake is carried out mainly by GLUT4 (22,35). Glucose is efficiently reabsorbed, and little is lost to urinary excretion, due to the combined actions of various GLUT type (GLUT1 (36), GLUT2 (22), GLUT5 (37), GLUT9 (38,39)) and other transporters in the kidney.





The entry of glucose (and other monosaccharides) through the intestine into the bloodstream and its subsequent delivery to the highlighted organs via the specified glucose transporters (modified version of a figure from Muecler et al. (22)).

#### 2.1.1.1. The GLUT1 membrane protein

GLUT1 is one of the most intensively researched transporters, not only within the SLC2 family but also among all membrane transporters. Studies of this protein began in 1977, with its extraction from the membrane of human RBCs (40).

GLUT1, being the primary glucose transporter in RBCs, creates approximately 5% of the plasma membrane proteins in these cells (29). This allows for the rapid equalization of glucose levels between the blood plasma and the RBCs and increases the overall glucose-carrying capacity of the blood (22). GLUT1 also plays a crucial role in maintaining basal glucose levels for various other cell types. For instance, it is found in the endothelial cells of the BBB, thereby ensuring the glucose uptake to the brain (30). In the placenta, GLUT1 is particularly important in providing glucose, as the vital energy source, for the developing fetus (29). GLUT1 can also be found in the endothelial cells of the kidney (36) and the beta cells of the pancreas, among other cell types (41).

Although the principal substrate of GLUT1 is glucose, the transport of several other monosaccharides (e.g. mannose, galactose, fructose) and vitamin C are also facilitated by this transporter (24). The affinity of GLUT1 to glucose is higher at the outer substrate-binding domain, allowing more efficient glucose uptake from the environment.

The 55 kDa GLUT1 protein, consisting of 492 amino acids, is the most conserved member among GLUT transporters, showing about 97-98% sequence identity with homologous rat, mouse, rabbit and pig proteins (29,42). Similarly, to the other GLUT members, it contains 12 transmembrane domains, and both the N (amino) and C (carboxyl) ends are localized in the cytoplasm. As a Class I member, GLUT1 has a glycosylation (N45) on the first extracellular linker domain (**Figure 2/A**) (25).

GLUT1 is encoded by the *SLC2A1* (solute carrier family 2-facilitated glucose transporter member 1) gene, located in the 34.2 position of the short (p) arm of chromosome 1 [1p34.2; <u>https://ghr.nlm.nih.gov/gene/SLC2A1</u>] (43). The gene includes 33,802 base pairs, with 3 putative enhancer regions and 10 exons (**Figure 2/B**).



**Figure 2. Schematic representation of the GLUT1 membrane protein and the coding** *SLC2A1* **gene.** The protein consists of 12 transmembrane helix domains, both the N (amino) and C (carboxyl) ends are localized in the cytoplasm, while there is a glycosylation (N45) on the first extracellular linker domain. Figure from Barrett et al. (44). The coding *SLC2A1* gene consists of 10 exons (indicated as 1–10) and three putative enhancers (indicated with light grey bars). The 4 examined SNPs are also presented. Figure from Kulin et al. (45).

Abnormal function or expression of this protein are linked to serious disease conditions. Missense and nonsense mutations are very rare and, since GLUT1 is a major glucose transporter in the BBB, these changes cause serious problems in the nervous system. For instance, functional mutations in the *SLC2A1* gene lead to the development of the rare disease, GLUT1 deficiency syndrome. The limited brain glucose availability results in symptoms such as epileptic seizure, coordination disorder (ataxia), and cognitive impairment (22,46,47).

Changes in gene regulation driven by frequent genetic variations (polymorphism) occur more frequently and are associated with several diseases. Reduced GLUT1 expression at the BBB was found to be associated with Alzheimer's disease, characterized by the decreased glucose transport in the early stage of the disease (48,49). In various tumor cells, however (especially under hypoxic conditions), the GLUT1 transporter is overexpressed and this has an important role in the elevated glucose metabolism of these cells (50–52).

DOI:10.14753/SE.2025.3029

Although GLUT1 cannot be linked directly to the development of diabetes, it may strongly influence the progression of the disease. According to a study in nephropathic rats, GLUT1 expression is higher in the glomerular cells of the kidney (53). Moreover, in humans, an increased GLUT1 expression level in the placenta was observed, during gestational diabetes, T1DM (54) and T2DM (55).

#### 2.1.1.2. Genetic variants in the *SLC2A1* gene

GWA (genome-wide association) studies have identified thousands of risk loci linked to various human diseases, including diabetes mellitus. However, only a small proportion of these variants are located within exons and can directly modify protein function by altering the amino acid sequence. The majority of the variants are located in non-coding regions, and their significance stems from being enriched in regulatory regions. These GWAS variants can influence enhancer/promoter activities by altering transcription factor binding sites. However, their functional activity and contribution to disease susceptibility is questionable. Within risk loci, genetic variants exhibit high correlation due to the linkage disequilibrium. These correlated variants move together from generation to generation, forming so called haploblocks. Within these haploblocks, variants are indistinguishable based solely on genetic analysis. In many cases, the statistically significant genetic variant serves merely as a marker of the disease due to the high LD (linkage disequilibrium), rather than being the causal variant. The causal variant drives the observed changes, such as alterations in gene expression levels or the risk of disease development. In eQTL (expression quantitative trait loci) studies, it is the specific variant that alters gene expression by affecting regulatory elements, while in genetic association studies of diseases, a causal variant directly contributes to the altered risk of the condition. By combining these two analyses could be a powerful tool in the study of complex diseases. It is crucial to identify the causal variant that functionally contributes to disease development, and to analyze them individually using various molecular biology tools, enabling the understanding of underlying molecular disease mechanisms.

GWAS studies are not necessarily suitable for uncovering the effect of all genetic variants, because single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) often have small effect sizes on disease risk. In large-scale studies, these small effect sizes can become challenging

to uncover, however in case-control studies conducted on smaller cohorts, the effect of these genetic variants can also be found.

According to case-control studies, T2DM and the complications of this disease (e.g. diabetic nephropathy and diabetic retinopathy) are associated with some *SLC2A1* SNPs, including rs1385129, rs841847, and rs841848 (56–58). Given their potential risk in the disease I chose these SNPs to analyze their role in T2DM. In addition, during my investigations, I found rs11537641 SNP, which I also included in the further analyses (details about the reason of the selection are described in the results section).

The four SNPs in the *SLC2A1* gene examined in my studies have minor allele frequencies between 0.19–0.25 in Europe, thus are present in a relatively large number of the populations (**Table 1.**).

#### Table 1. Key data of the examined SNPs.

G/C: wild-type allele (wt); A/T: mutant allele (mt); MAF: Minor Allele Frequency; Enh-2: enhancer 2. Table from Kulin et al. (45).

SNP	Alleles (wt>mt)	MAF (EUR)	Location
rs1385129	G>A	0.22	Exon 2
rs841847	C>T	0.25	Intron 2, Enh-2
rs841848	G>A	0.20	Intron 2, Enh-2
rs11537641	G>A	0.19	Exon 4

Variant rs1385129, as one of the most studied *SLC2A1* SNPs in diabetes, was found to increase the risk of diabetic nephropathy in Tunisian (56) and Kurdish (57) cohorts. This synonymous SNP is in exon 2 and is a member of a large haplotype block (**Table 2.**). Variants rs841848 and rs841847, located in intron 2, were also associated with T2DM complications (56,59). SNP rs841847 has been described as a risk factor in diabetic retinopathy and nephropathy (58), while results for rs841848 have been controversial (56,60,61). These intronic variants are in a putative enhancer (enh-2) region of *SLC2A1*, which further increases the suspicion that these are causal SNPs. Besides, variant rs841848 is a member of a relatively large haplotype block (**Table 3.**).

#### DOI:10.14753/SE.2025.3029

**Table 2. Haplotype block of the rs1385129 variant.** The alleles shown here are the parts of the haplotype. The table contains the frequency of the minor alleles (MAF), the distance from the rs1385129 SNP and the localization (gene, region) of the variants. Linkage disequilibrium (LD) among the included SNPs is at least 0.8 ( $R^2/D'$ ). This LD matrix was made with LD Link database from European population.  $R^2/D'$ : linkage indicators,  $R^2$  is sensitive to allele frequency; IGR: intergenic region; *SLC2A1-AS1*: *SLC2A1* antisense long non-coding RNA.

<b>RS_Number</b>	Allele	MAF	Distance	R2	D'	Gene	Region
rs1385129	G	0.22 (A)	0	1.00	1.00	SLC2A1	exon 2
rs710223	С	0.21 (G)	2072	0.93	0.99	SLC2A1	intron 1
rs1622805	С	0.21 (T)	2401	0.93	0.99	SLC2A1	intron 1
rs1681859	G	0.21 (A)	2863	0.93	0.99	SLC2A1	intron 1
rs900834	G	0.21 (A)	3377	0.93	0.99	SLC2A1	intron 1
rs900836	С	0.21 (T)	3761	0.91	0.97	SLC2A1	intron 1
rs900837	G	0.21 (A)	3827	0.91	0.97	SLC2A1	intron 1
rs2297977	G	0.21 (T)	6322	0.91	0.97	SLC2A1	intron 1
rs710220	G	0.23 (T)	6380	0.92	1.00	SLC2A1	intron 1
rs10890232	С	0.23 (T)	7548	0.92	1.00	SLC2A1	intron 1
rs4660691	G	0.21 (T)	8184	0.91	0.97	SLC2A1	intron 1
rs2297972	Т	0.23 (C)	9060	0.92	1.00	SLC2A1	intron 1
rs3754223	Т	0.21 (A)	10125	0.91	0.97	SLC2A1	intron 1
rs3768043	А	0.23 (C)	10388	0.92	1.00	SLC2A1	intron 1
rs3768044	Т	0.23 (C)	11188	0.92	1.00	SLC2A1	intron 1
rs710219	G	0.21 (A)	13038	0.91	0.97	SLC2A1	intron 1
rs11537640	Т	0.21 (G)	15553	0.90	0.97	SLC2A1	5'UTR
rs28365848	Т	0.21 (-)	15745	0.90	0.97	IGR	-
rs3806401	А	0.21 (C)	17246	0.90	0.97	SLC2A1-AS1	intron 1
rs3738514	С	0.21 (T)	17625	0.90	0.97	SLC2A1-AS1	intron 1
rs710218	Т	0.23 (A)	18252	0.91	0.99	SLC2A1-AS1	intron 1
rs710216	А	0.21 (G)	19791	0.91	0.98	SLC2A1-AS1	intron 1
rs710215	Т	0.21 (C)	20139	0.90	0.98	SLC2A1-AS1	intron 1
rs841563	С	0.21 (T)	20554	0.90	0.98	SLC2A1-AS1	intron 1
rs859511	С	0.21 (T)	21294	0.90	0.99	SLC2A1-AS1	intron 1
rs12039898	G	0.21 (A)	21469	0.90	0.99	SLC2A1-AS1	intron 1
rs9439065	G	0.21 (A)	23159	0.90	0.99	SLC2A1-AS1	intron 1
rs9439066	С	0.21 (T)	23170	0.90	0.99	SLC2A1-AS1	intron 1
rs12041787	G	0.21 (C)	23309	0.90	0.99	SLC2A1-AS1	intron 1
rs2886876	G	0.21 (A)	23775	0.89	0.98	SLC2A1-AS1	intron 1
rs841570	С	0.20 (G)	26605	0.90	0.99	SLC2A1-AS1	intron 1
rs841573	С	0.20 (T)	27403	0.90	0.99	SLC2A1-AS1	intron 2
rs710214	С	0.22 (T)	30316	0.83	0.91	SLC2A1-AS1	intron 2
rs844501	G	0.22 (A)	31817	0.83	0.91	SLC2A1-AS1	intron 3

#### DOI:10.14753/SE.2025.3029

Table 3. Haplotype block of the rs841848 variant. The alleles shown here are the members of the haplotype. The table contains the frequency of the minor alleles (MAF), the distance from the rs841848 SNP and the localization (gene, region) of the variants. Linkage disequilibrium (LD) among the included SNPs is at least 0.8 ( $R^2/D'$ ). This LD matrix was made with LD Link site from European population.  $R^2/D'$ : linkage indicators,  $R^2$  is sensitive to allele frequency.

<b>RS_Number</b>	Allele	MAF	Distance	R2	D'	Gene	Region
rs841858	G	0.17 (T)	-3378	0.82	0.99	SLC2A1	intron 2
rs841857	С	0.19 (T)	-2529	0.91	0.99	SLC2A1	intron 2
rs841855	G	0.19 (A)	-2369	0.92	0.99	SLC2A1	intron 2
rs841854	С	0.19 (T)	-2060	0.93	0.99	SLC2A1	intron 2
rs1770811	А	0.20 (T)	-1998	0.99	1.00	SLC2A1	intron 2
rs841852	С	0.20 (T)	-1046	1.00	1.00	SLC2A1	intron 2
rs841851	А	0.20 (G)	-716	1.00	1.00	SLC2A1	intron 2
rs841850	Т	0.20 (C)	-491	1.00	1.00	SLC2A1	intron 2
rs841849	G	0.19 (A)	-340	0.94	1.00	SLC2A1	intron 2
rs841848	G	0.20 (A)	0	1.00	1.00	SLC2A1	intron 2
rs841845	Т	0.20 (C)	2168	1.00	1.00	SLC2A1	intron 2
rs56935581	С	0.20 (T)	2919	1.00	1.00	SLC2A1	intron 2
rs59042803	С	0.20 (T)	3001	1.00	1.00	SLC2A1	intron 2
rs1770810	G	0.19 (A)	3568	0.94	1.00	SLC2A1	intron 2

#### 2.1.2. The ABC superfamily – the ABCG subfamily

The ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters are evolutionary conserved proteins belonging to one of the largest superfamilies, and are found in all organism from bacteria to humans (62,63).

The ABC transporters are generally consisting of 4 subunits, two of which are the transmembrane domains (TMD), responsible for the substrate transport, and two nucleotide binding domains (NBD), responsible for ATP binding and hydrolyzation (64). The transmembrane domains typically contain six membrane-spanning alphahelices with variable amino acid sequences. Some ABC proteins (members of the ABCE and ABCF subfamily) do not have membrane spanning domains (65,66). However, there is no ABC protein without the sequentially conserved nucleotide binding domains (67). The three main unit of the NBD are the Walker A and B domains, found in all ATP-binding proteins and the C domain (signature motif), specific to the ABC proteins (68,69). Generally, these transporters must contain two TMDs and two NBDs for functional activity. Full transporters, such as the ABCB1

protein have these four elements in a single polypeptide chain, while half-transporters, such as the ABCG2 protein, contains only one of these domains. To generate a functional transporter, they must form hetero- or homodimers.

ABC transporters carry out primarily active transport with the help of the energy released after ATP binding and hydrolyzation (70). The range of transported substrates is very broad, from small ions to larger polar, amphipathic and hydrophobic organic substances (e.g. lipids, carbohydrates, amino acids) (69). These substrates can be transported in two directions (import, export) but importers are specific only to the bacterial cells (and rarely to endosymbiotic organelles) (71).

The main function of some ABC transporters is the removal of xenobiotics from the cell, which is important in the protection of the cell from the toxic compounds (chemoimmunity). As they can influence the ADME-Tox properties of the drugs, ABC transporters have a significant role in the clinical pharmacology. They are highly expressed in the epithelial cells of the BBB, the intestinal enterocytes (absorption barrier), the hepatocytes, and the epithelial cells of the proximal tubules of the kidney (excretory barriers). In cancer cells, overexpression of certain ABC transporters (e.g. ABCB1, ABCC1, ABCG2) can be observed, which results in the development of multidrug resistance. In addition, they are able to remove many other active ingredients (e.g. antibiotics, antidepressants, anti-epileptics, etc.). The members of this superfamily also play a role in lipid metabolism, and other cellular metabolic processes (4,64,72).

According to the Human Genome Organization, there are 51 ABC genes (6), of which 48 encode proteins (the remaining three are pseudogenes). These genes are classified into 7 subfamilies (ABCA-G) based on domain structure and sequence identity (63). The ABCG subfamily has five members, forming four proteins, as ABCG5 and ABCG8 form a heterodimer. These proteins has a role in lipid homeostasis, with the exception is ABCG2, which main role is the elimination of endo- and xenobiotics (e.g. drugs) out of the cell (73).

#### 2.1.2.1. The ABCG2 membrane protein

ABCG2 (BCRP, MXR) homodimer is found in various physiological barriers such as the intestine, blood-brain barrier, and blood-placental barrier. It is a multispecific protein, responsible for the elimination of xeno- and endobiotics from the cell. Since these chemicals are usually toxic for the cells, ABCG2 contributes to chemo immunity. ABCG2 plays a pivotal role in the ADME-Tox properties of drugs and is implicated in multidrug resistance (4). In addition, ABCG2 also serves a crucial role in the uric acid transport, both in the intestine and in the kidney (74).

The ABCG2 protein with a molecular weight of 72 kDa consists of 655 amino acid residues. The monomer structure features six transmembrane helix domains, and the nucleotide-binding domain situated in the cytoplasm, along with both the N (amino) and C (carboxyl) termini. The N-glycosylated residue and the cysteinyl disulfide bridges are located on the extracellular side of the membrane (**Figure 3/A**)(75).

The *ABCG2* gene is located on chromosome 4 and consists of 16 exons, the first of which is part of the 5'UTR (**Figure 3/B**). The general START site of the protein is located in exon 2, but there are several splicing variants (76). The gene has several mutations that cause changes in the amino acid sequence and affect the protein's expression level, function, or trafficking.



**Figure 3. Schematic representation of the ABCG2 membrane protein and the coding gene.** The monomer consists of 6 transmembrane helix domains, both the N (amino) and C (carboxyl) ends are facing the cytoplasm. The functional protein is a homodimer, linked via cysteinyl disulfide bridges (circles). The N-glycosylated residue depicted with a triangle (75). The *ABCG2* gene consists of 16 exons, and the general start site of the protein is in exon 2, while the Q141K variant is located in the 5th exon. Modified figure of Bircsak et al.(77).

The decreased expression of ABCG2 results in significantly higher uric acid level, which is a risk factor in the development of gout (78). Besides, uric acid level shows association with other diseases, such as hypertension, T2DM and chronic kidney failure (79,80). Wei et al. found that in patients with T2DM, serum uric acid and HbA1c (hemoglobin A1c) are negatively correlated, but in control samples these parameters showed a positive correlation (79). Although there are contradictions regarding these correlations (81), the question arises as to whether ABCG2 plays a role in these conditions.

#### 2.1.2.2. The ABCG2-Q141K variant

One of the most researched polymorphisms of the coding gene is rs2231142 (C421A), resulting in the ABCG2-Q141K protein variant. GWA studies and molecular genetic investigations showed significant association between the presence of this polymorphism and the decreased level of the protein (79,82,83). The variant can be found in 10% of the European population (MAF=0.1), while in some Asian populations it has a much higher frequency (MAF=0.3).

This variant negatively influences the folding and processing of ABCG2, resulting in the decreased expression level of the protein. Based on the correlations observed so far, it is not surprising that this variant contributes to elevated uric acid levels and thus to the development of gout. In addition, it has been also reported that the Q141K variant affects the pharmacokinetics of several drugs (84).

#### 2.2. Type two diabetes mellitus

According to the IDF's 2022 estimate (International Diabetes Federation, Diabetes Atlas 10th edition), diabetes mellitus is one of the most common metabolic diseases nowadays, affecting more than 500 million adults worldwide (85).

When the human body is functioning normally, it responds to high blood glucose levels with negative feedback. In the pancreas, beta cells of the islets produce insulin in response to high blood glucose concentrations, which gives a signal for the liver cells to take up glucose and store it in the form of glycogen (86). Additionally, it also serves as a signal for muscle and fat cells, to stimulate the translocation of GLUT4 transporter, thereby increasing the glucose uptake, resulting in lower blood glucose levels. The two main forms of diabetes are type one diabetes, characterized by an initial deficiency in insulin secretion, and type two diabetes, where insulin-sensitive cells become resistant and then secretion is also impaired. It is important to note however, that there is no sharp distinction between the two types, rather a transition can be observed between them (87). In addition, according to the current classification, there are several other types (pl. gestational diabetes, maturity onset diabetes of the young (MODY), etc.) of the disease (85).

Type two diabetes accounts for the vast majority (over 90%) of diabetes worldwide (85). The rapid growth can be attributed to environmental (industrialization) and

lifestyle (carbohydrate-rich diet and the sedentary lifestyle) changes, which together with the genetic predisposition can all contribute to the development of the disease, making it difficult to apply an appropriate treatment (86,88). It is also a significant challenge that in several cases the diagnosis is made decades after the onset of the disease, when complications may already appear (87). High blood sugar may cause the beta cells to produce more and more insulin until depletion, resulting in a condition similar to type one diabetes (88). As the disease progresses, a number of other complications may develop (e.g. cardiovascular diseases), which can cause damage in entire organs (kidneys, heart, brain) (58). The two main types of cardiovascular complications are microvascular and macrovascular diseases. The microvascular type includes diabetic retinopathy (DR) and nephropathy (DN), while the macrovascular complications include stroke and coronary artery disease. (89).

There are several membrane transporters which play a role in the development, progression and treatment of the disease (19,90,91). In my thesis I investigated two membrane proteins (GLUT1 and ABCG2) in this concept.

## 3. Objectives

The aims of my Ph.D. research were the following:

- 1. Studying the possible association between the expression level of GLUT1 membrane protein and type two diabetes mellitus.
- 2. Searching for genetic variants underlying the expression pattern of GLUT1.
- 3. Investigation of the exact molecular mechanism and regulatory background of the association between the identified variants and GLUT1 expression.
- 4. Examining the possible role of the *SLC2A1* SNPs and the ABCG2-Q141K variant in T2DM.

## 4. Methods

#### 4.1. Samples and laboratory data

The GLUT1 study was conducted involving 207 Hungarian individuals (87 males and 120 females) with the average age of 60 ( $\pm$ 13). 120 samples were obtained from type two diabetic (T2DM) patients, 59 samples from age-matched controls and 28 samples from healthy volunteers. The age-matched healthy subjects were selected from visitors at the clinic not suffering from diabetes or related metabolic diseases. The samples were obtained from the Drug Research Center (DRC, Balatonfüred, Hungary) and the 2nd Department of Internal Medicine, Semmelweis University (SE, Budapest, Hungary). Besides, to increase the sample size we also analyzed samples from in-house volunteers. The disease-related laboratory data (HbA1c, glucose, and insulin levels, HOMA etc.) and anthropometric data (weight, height, BMI, and waist circumference) of the participating patients were provided by the two collaborators (there were no such data for the in-house volunteers) (**Table 4.**). In addition, we received information about the disease-related complications of 23 cases (albuminuria (n=16), neuropathy (n=11), nephropathy (n=7) and retinopathy (n=4)), the family medical history (hypertension, obesity, gout, etc.) and the medication parameters.

**Table 4. Summary of some key data of the control and T2DM groups from the GLUT1 study.** The values are expressed as means +/- SD. The p values were calculated by the Student's t-test. Here, due to the lack of data, values for the in-house volunteers are not presented. Modified table from Kulin et al. (45).

Variable	Control group	T2DM group	p-value
Ν	59	120	-
HbA1c (%)	$5.3\pm0.5$	$6.9\pm1.3$	< 0.0001
Blood glucose (mmol/L)	$5.0\pm0.5$	$6.5 \pm 2.1$	< 0.0001
Insulin (mlU/l)	$7.8\pm4.8$	$9.9\pm4.8$	0.0234

The study about the ABCG2-Q141K variant was conducted involving 203 Hungarian individuals (87 males and 116 females) with the average age of 67 ( $\pm$ 12). The samples from T2DM patients were obtained from the Drug Research Centre and the agematched healthy volunteers were selected from visitors at the clinic not suffering from diabetes or related metabolic diseases. The key laboratory diagnostic parameters analyzed here for T2DM patients, and the healthy volunteers included HbA1c, glucose, and uric acid levels (see **Table 5.**). The T2DM group can be further divided into two subgroups. Patients with insulin resistance (n=36), as first-time visitors at the DRC diabetic clinic ("untreated"), and long-time successfully managed ("treated") T2DM patients (n=63) with dietary supervision and with metformin treatment. In some cases, this treatment was supplemented with oral antidiabetics and with allopurinol (milurit), to reduce uric acid levels. The clinical diagnosis of T2DM was established according to the criteria of the American Diabetes Association (ADA) (92). Written informed consent was obtained from all patients, and the study was approved by the Scientific and Research Committee of the Medical Research Council, Hungary (ETT TUKEB references: 19680-3/2019/EKU, 2367-1/2019/EKU).

Table 5. Summary of some key data of the control and T2DM groups from the ABCG2-Q141K study. The values are expressed as means  $\pm$  SD. The p values were calculated by Student's t-test. Modified table from Szabo et al. (93).

Variable	Control group	T2DM group	p-value
Ν	104	99	-
HbA1c (%)	$5.6 \pm 0.8$	$6.7 \pm 1.2$	< 0.0001
Blood glucose (mmol/L)	$5.4 \pm 2.0$	7.1 ± 3.5	< 0.0001
Uric Acid (µmol/L)	$314.9\pm88.7$	$334\pm88.5$	0.1260

#### 4.2. Flow cytometry

The expression level of GLUT1 was measured in RBCs with a method developed and patented earlier by our research group (49,94,95). Based on the protocol, the EDTA-anticoagulated blood samples stored at 4°C, can be processed within 24 hours. During this period the relative fluorescence signal of the membrane proteins does not change significantly. As the first step of this method, a weak fixation process was performed to produce the ghosts (RBC membranes). For this process we needed only a drop (50  $\mu$ l) of blood which was added to a 1% formaldehyde/PBS solution and incubated at 37°C with shaking for 5 minutes. After centrifugation (1000g, 5 minutes), the samples were washed with 4 mL of PBS, and spun down (1000g, 5 minutes). The remaining pellet (ghosts and intact cells) was labelled by Alexa Fluor 647 conjugated wheat germ agglutinin (1:200, WGA-AF647, Thermo FS). WGA-conjugates are general membrane dyes, that bind nonspecifically to membrane oligosaccharide chains. This is necessary because at the end of the fixation process, only a transparent cell membrane (ghost) remains from the RBCs, which is difficult to separate from the background signal due to its low light refraction. With the same reason the ghosts appear much smaller than the intact cells.

After we completed the samples to 500  $\mu$ L with PBS, we continued the work in a microplate system. The samples were labelled with GLUT1 rabbit monoclonal antibody (1:20, Abcam, ab115730), diluted in 0.5 m/v% BSA/PBS with a final volume of 5  $\mu$ L. After 40 minutes of shaking incubation at 37°C, samples were diluted in 20  $\mu$ L PBS. It was followed by the fluorescence labeling with the secondary (Alexa Fluor 488-labeled goat anti-rabbit (H+L) antibody, 1:200, Thermo FS) antibody diluted in 0.5 m/v% BSA-PBS in a final volume of 10  $\mu$ L. Incubation with shaking on 37°C was lasted for 30 minutes then the samples were diluted in 90  $\mu$ L PBS. For the measurement we used 40  $\mu$ L antibody labelled sample in the final volume of 300  $\mu$ L. The antibodies were previously titrated to obtain the most reliable result and the largest difference in signal intensity compared to the control. To measure the nonspecific signals, we used samples labelled only with WGA and secondary antibody. Instead of centrifugation, serial dilution was used during labeling to remove non-specifically bound antibodies. This was necessary because the specific density of ghosts is close to that of water, so we would lose a lot of ghosts during centrifugation.

The measurement was performed with a 4-laser Attune NxT (Thermo FS) flow cytometer equipped with an automatic plate sampling system. The first step was the gating to the WGA-A647 positive events (RL1 channel, excitation wavelengths: 637 nm, emission filter: 670/14), then the separation of the erythrocyte ghost from the intact erythrocytes based on the forward and side scatter (FSC/SSC) parameters. The antibody marked with AF488 was detected in the BL1 channel (excitation wavelengths: 488 nm, emission filter: 530/30 nm) (see **Figure 4.**).

25



**Figure 4. Signal filtering during flow cytometric measurement.** Gating to WGA-A647 positive cells (A), separation of ghosts (red) and intact cells (green) (B) and signal intensity of the GLUT-1 antibody (red) compared to the control (blue) (C); RL1: red laser channel 1, BL1: blue laser channel 1, SSC: side scatter, FSC: forward scatter, -A/-H: area/height.

The relative expression values (arbitrary unit) were obtained by dividing the median fluorescence values of the samples labelled with the primary and secondary antibodies together by the median values of the secondary antibody control. For further analysis the mean values of the parallels were used.

This method allows to explore the alterations in the expression of membrane proteins and the related disease conditions (95). We have documented that by using this erythrocyte ghost forming method and applying well established, specific monoclonal antibodies - in contrast to other technologies (e.g. Western blotting or direct chemical labeling) - even small differences in the RBC expression levels can be properly quantified (83,96,97).

#### 4.3. SNP selection and genetic analysis

Genomic DNA was isolated from whole blood using Gentra Puregene Blood Kit (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's protocol. The DNA concentration of the samples was measured with Nanodrop (Thermo FS) spectrophotometer.

Exon sequencing was performed in nine samples, selected from both low, medium and high expression levels. The primers required for the amplification and the sequencing of the *SLC2A1* exon regions (with the exon-intron boundaries) were designed using the reference sequence and the Primer Blast tool of NCBI (**Table 6.**). After amplifying, the PCR products were run in a 1 w/v% agarose gel and purified by using Wizard SV Gel and PCR Clean-Up System (Promega). Sanger sequencing was performed by Eurofins. For the further analyzes, the SNPs were selected based on sequencing and previous literature data. The allele discrimination genotyping experiments (both in case of the *SLC2A1* SNPs and the *ABCG2* SNP) were performed on all samples carried out with TaqMan-based qPCR analysis and were performed by a Step One Plus device (Applied Biosystems) with premade assay mixes (Thermo FS, (C\_1166185\_1\_ (rs1385129); C\_1166180\_10 (rs841847); C\_8365112\_10 (rs841848); C\_30716206\_10 (rs11537641); C\_15854163\_70 (rs2231142)) and master mix (Thermo FS). The specificity of the probes was verified by sequencing. These experiments, together with flow cytometry analysis, provided information on the effect of the tested SNPs and the related haplotype.

**Table 6. Sequencing primers.** Sequence of the designed forward and reverse primers of the exons in the *SLC2A1* gene. Table from Kulin et al. (45).

Exons	Forward primer (5'→3')	Reverse primer (5'→3')
1	GTCCCAACGCAGAGAGAACG	CGGCCCGCTAGATCCGAA
2	AAAGACTGGTGTGGTGCCAA	AGAAAACTGGCTGGAGAGGC
3-4	TCTCTTAGGGAGGGGGGGCAA	TGGTGCTGTGTTCTCTGGAC
5-6	AACAGGGCTCATGCTAGTGG	TTCTTCGGCAGAGGCGTATC
7-8	CAGTGTCCCTTCTGCCTGAG	GGAGCCAGAAAGTCAGACCC
9	ATAGCTCTGCTCTGGCCTCT	CCCTCAGTTTCCTCCTCAGC
10	TAGGTACAAGCGTGGTCTCAG	AGGTTTGGAAGTCTCATCCAGC

#### 4.4. Design of reporter vector constructs and cloning

To generate recombinant luciferase vector constructs, I used the basic pGL3 vector (Promega) modified with a mini-TK promoter (previously designed by Boglárka Zámbó). In this experiment, I analyzed inserts that contained the minor allele only for the tested SNP (for insert sizes and primers see **Table 7.**). The DNA fragments of interest were amplified by PCR and were inserted in the mini-TK promoter vector by using T4 ligase (Thermo FS), after digestion by NheI (NEB) and XhoI (NEB) restriction enzymes. The resulting constructs were introduced to E. coli Dh5 $\alpha$  ultracompetent cells by transformation and purified using the PureYield Plasmid Miniprep System (Promega). To ensure whether the ligation was correct, I sent the constructs for Sanger sequencing.

SNP	Insert size	Forward primer (5'→3')	Reverse primer (5'→3')
rs1385129	372 bp	ACT <i>GCTAGC</i> - AAAGACTGGTGTGGTGCCAA	AGTA <i>CTCGAG</i> - AGAAAACTGGCTGGAGAGGC
rs841847, rs841848	577 bp	GACGCTAGC- CCATCTCCGTGCTGAGGTTT	ATGC <i>CTCGAG</i> - CCTCCCGGTAGACAGAGGAA
rs11537641	518 bp	CAT <i>GCTAGC</i> - GTGGGAGGTAGGGGAGACTT	ATCG <i>CTCGAG-</i> TGGTGCTGTGTTCTCTGGAC

Table 7. Size of the inserts cloned to the modified pGL3 vector and sequence of the designed forward and reverse primers. The inserts contain the minor allele only for the tested SNP. Restriction enzyme cut sites are included and marked with italics. Table from Kulin et al. (45).

#### 4.5. Cell culture, transfection, and treatments

For the cellular experiments, I used human embryonic kidney 293T cells (HEK-293T) and human hepatoma cells (HepG2 – frequently used in diabetes related studies), which were mycoplasma-free cell lines. HEK-293T and HepG2 cells were grown in DMEM/high glucose/GlutaMAX medium (Gibco) completed with 10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS), Gibco and 0.1% gentamicin (Gibco) at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>.

For the following experiments, 40,000 cells/well were plated in 48-well plates both for HEK-293T and HepG2 cells. The transfection of HEK-293T cells was carried out with Turbofect reagent (Thermo FS) while HepG2 was transfected by using JetOptimus (Polyplus). In both cases 450 ng of pGL3 TK-mini (vector with thymidine kinase promoter) constructs were used together with 50 ng of pRL-TK (Renilla luciferase vector with HSV-Thymidin kinase promoter) plasmid.

For examining the regulatory effects of various incubation conditions, HepG2 liverrelated cells, potentially more relevant to metabolic diseases, were treated for 24 hours after transfection. Treatments with glucose and insulin required FBS free medium because the exact composition of FBS is not known, and it is conceivable that it contains these compounds. When testing the effect of glucose concentration, I exchanged the medium to an FBS- and glucose-free medium (Gibco), while for insulin treatment I used a medium without FBS and a low amount (1 g/L) of glucose (Gibco), then, 6 hours before the measurements, 100 nM insulin (Sigma) was added to the samples. This experimental setting was based on previous literature data (98,99). For hypoxia treatment, cells were placed in a humidified, hypoxic incubator (37°C), flushed with a gas mixture of 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, 92% N<sub>2</sub> and 3% O<sub>2</sub>. Physiological hypoxia is likely to be in the range 2–6% oxygen (100), which suggests that with 3% of oxygen, the hypoxia response elements may well upregulate, and this condition is also acceptable for the cells.

#### 4.6. Dual luciferase assay

To determine the potential regulatory effects on the expression, including the potential enhancer/suppressor activity of the surrounding region of the examined SNPs, I cloned their respective wild-type and mutant regions into the pGL3 vector (**see Figure 5.**) and measured luciferase activity in the transfected HEK-293T and HepG2 cells.

For the analysis, I used a Dual Luciferase Reporter Assay System kit (Promega), according to the manufacturer's guideline. Luciferase reaction was measured 48 hours after transfection, with VICTOR X3 Multilabel Plate Reader (Perkin Elmer). Firefly luciferase activity was normalized to Renilla luciferase activity in all experiments. Each DNA fragment containing the specific SNPs and the surrounding regions were tested in triplicates, and at least three independent experiments were performed.



**Figure 5. Vector Maps.** The modified basic pGL3 vector containing the inserts with variants rs1385129, rs841847, rs841848 or rs11537641, and the pRL-TK vector (Renilla luciferase vector with HSV-Thymidin kinase promoter). Figure from Kulin et al. (45).

#### 4.7. Bioinformatic analysis

In order to predict transcription factor binding sites (TFBS) affected by the examined SNPs we used the matrix scan function of the Regulatory Sequence Analysis Tools (RSAT, http://rsat.sb-roscoff.fr/index.php). With this tool, we can predict and analyze the transcription factor binding sites. For the usage of this tool, on one hand we had to filter the 100 nucleotides long regions around the SNP's - upstream and downstream. For each SNP, we had two different sequences. The first contains the original/reference sequence (with the reference allele of the SNP in the middle of it) and the other one contains the alternative sequence (with the alternative allele of the SNP in the middle of it). On the other hand, we downloaded the newest version of the position weight matrices (PWM) of the transcription factors (TF) from the Jaspar database (http://jaspar.genereg.net). This matrix contains the representation of different motifs or patterns in biological sequences. A position weight matrix is a model for the binding specificity of a TF and can be used to scan a sequence for the presence of DNA words that are significantly more similar to the PWM than to the background.

With our sequences and with the position weight matrix, we could predict the binding sites of different transcription factors in the region around the SNPs, both for the reference sequences and for the sequences, which are containing the SNPs alternative alleles. The matrix scan module can calculate a p-value for each binding site (referring to the probability of binding to the given sequence) and we worked with only those, which were less than 0.0005 (p<0.0005). After the matrix scan module calculated the TFBS's (Transcription Factor Binding Sites), we had two different results. The first contains only those TFBS's, which came from the reference sequences with the reference allele of the SNP, and the other part, which contains only those TFBS's, which came from sequences, with the alternative alleles in them. Then we compared the differences between the two results, and we kept only those TFBSs, which were unique. This means that we worked only with those TFBS's, which were only present in one of the results.

#### 4.8. Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using the GraphPad Prism 8.0.1 software. The potential association between the expression levels of GLUT1 and the occurrence of the disease was analyzed with the Mann-Whitney test. To compare genotypes and protein levels, I chose the Kruskal-Wallis test with a Dunn post-hoc test. The distribution of the SNPs for all variants in the examined samples conformed to the Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium. I examined the SNP frequency in the control and case group and searched for possible differences with  $\chi^2$  and Fisher tests. The p values for the comparison of the laboratory parameters between the groups were calculated by Student's t test. To compare relative luciferase activities between the constructs with different alleles, I used Welch's t-test. All dual-luciferase experiments were conducted at least three times, and each of these measurements included three replicates. In the statistical analyses, p<0.05 was considered as statistically significant difference.

## 5. Results

#### 5.1. GLUT1 expression and type two diabetes

In my work I first measured the expression level of GLUT1 on RBCs by flow cytometry, looking for possible differences between the patients with type two diabetes and the healthy individuals. As a result, no difference was found between the control and case groups (p=0.45).

However, we observed that expression levels of certain samples showed big deviation from the mean level (**Figure 6.**). Therefore, my next step was to investigate the genetic (polymorphisms, mutations) and regulatory (metabolic factors, transcription factors) background of this phenomenon. Since there was no significant difference in the mean values of the RBC membrane GLUT1 levels in these relatively small cohorts, in order to find statistically relevant SNP-dependent differences, I used the combined values of the expression levels measured in the control and T2DM patients.



Figure 6. GLUT1 expression pattern in the total (control and T2DM samples) population measured by flow cytometry. Samples with a large deviation from the mean (red dashed line) level required further investigation.

#### 5.2. Genetic background of GLUT1 expression

In parallel with the expression level measurement, I started the genetic analysis of the samples. For sequencing, I prepared a total of nine samples representing varying levels of RBC GLUT1 expression. Consequently, I found 3 SNPs and an insertion. (see **Table 8.**).

**Table 8. Sequencing results** – Genetic variants in the *SLC2A1* gene of samples with low, medium, and high (indicated by color strength) RBC GLUT1 expression levels (Relative fluorescence, mean  $\pm$  SD). Minor allele frequency refers to the European population. G: wild type allele; A: mutant allele. Table from Kulin et al. (45).

	Relative fluorescence		Genetic variants			
Sample	Mean	SD	<b>rs1385129</b> MAF=0.22	<b>rs11537641</b> MAF=0.19	<b>rs2229682</b> MAF=0.19	<b>rs11282849</b> MAF=0.47
8	878	53	GG	GA	GA	-
5	927	160	GG	GG	GG	insAAATGGTGAG
13	1058	5	GA	GG	GG	-
33	1075	95	GA	GA	GA	-
26	1085	25	GG	GG	GG	-
29	1127	71	GA	GA	GA	-
37	1174	40	GG	GA	GA	-
24	1226	163	GA	GA	GA	insAAATGGTGAG
36	1296	18	AA	AA	AA	insAAATGGTGAG

Considering the MAF (minor allele frequency) of these genetic variations in the European population, the insertion was excluded from the further investigation due to its high frequency occurrence (MAF(EUR)=0,46). Besides, by checking LD disequilibrium between the variants it revealed that two SNPs (rs11537641, rs2229682) show strong correlation ( $R^2$ =0,93), which implies that only one of them is sufficient for subsequent analysis. I selected rs11537641 along with rs1385129, which appeared to accumulate at higher expression levels. Interestingly, previous studies showed that rs1385129 was associated with diabetic nephropathy, a complication of type two diabetes. In addition, these case-control studies mentioned two other SNPs (rs841847 and rs841848) in association with T2DM or its complications, located in the 2nd intron, in a putative enhancer region. Therefore, genotyping analysis was conducted for the variants rs1385129, rs841847, rs841848, and rs11537641 on the entire population.

In our experiments on RBCs, we found that the expression level of the GLUT1 membrane protein was significantly higher in the presence of the mutant allele in case of rs1385129 (p < 0.0001), rs841848 (p<0.0001) and rs11537641 (p=0.0024) SNPs, respectively. On the contrary, the mutant allele of rs841847 was associated with decreased expression level (p = 0.0178) (**Fig. 7. A-D/1**).

Two out of the four examined SNPs (rs1385129 and rs841848) were identified as members of haplotype blocks. Consequently, it is crucial to consider that the observed

effects on GLUT1 expression may not necessarily be attributed to the specific SNPs analyzed, but rather to the effects of another SNP within the haplotype. To validate our previous results, I performed dual-luciferase reporter assay. Two different human cell lines were used in these studies. The immortalized human embryonic kidney derived (HEK) cells, which may reflect some of the kidney-type regulatory features, and a hepatoma cell line (HepG2) which may be informative for a more complex, hepatocyte-like regulatory mechanism. In the experiments, we used the modified pGL3 vector with the TK mini promoter (TK) as a benchmark, and the vector supplemented with a random sequence of similar size to the tested inserts was used as negative control (NC).

The luciferase reporter assay revealed that DNA fragments containing the rs1385129, rs841847 and rs841848 variants, had higher luciferase activity compared to the negative control. Thus, these sequences show enhancer/promoter effects.

As to the effect of the rs1385129 variant, the mutant allele increased luciferase activity more strongly than the wild-type allele in the HEK-293T cells (p=0.012, Fig.7. A/2). However, in HepG2 cells (Fig.7. A/3) there was no such difference between the effects of the two alleles.

In case of the rs841847 variant, we found that luciferase activity was significantly lower in the presence of the mutant allele (HEK-293T: p=0.0039, **Fig.7. B/2**; HepG2: p=0.0243, **Fig.7. B/3**), which results are consistent with the expression level of GLUT1 in the RBC membrane.

Examining rs841848 variant, we did not find substantial difference in the luciferase expression caused by the presence of the minor allele in HEK-293T cells, while in HepG2 cells there is a small decrease in the luciferase activity which is an opposite result compared to the GLUT1 expression data on RBC (HEK-293T: p=0.514, **Fig. 7. C/2**, HepG2: p=0.0354, **Fig.7. C/3**).

The region of rs11537641 slightly reduces luciferase expression driven by the TK promoter in HEK-293T cells but the mutant allele had no additional effect on this suppressed expression. In HepG2 cells, however, it significantly increased the luciferase activity (HEK-293T: p= 0.1015, Fig.7. D/2, HepG2: p < 0.0001, Fig.7. D/3).



**Figure 7. The effect of the 4 examined SNPs on GLUT1 expression and on luciferase activity.** For rs1385129 the presence of the mutant allele showed significantly higher GLUT1 expression in RBCs, and luciferase activity in HEK-293T cells but not in HepG2 cells (A/1-3). For rs841847 the mutant allele had a decreasing effect both on GLUT1 expression and on luciferase activity (B/1-3). In case of rs841848

GLUT1 expression is higher in the presence of the mutant allele, but luciferase experiments do not confirm this result (C/1-3). Variant rs11537641 increases the GLUT1 expression level and the luciferase activity in HepG2 cells (D/1-3). Each boxplot represents samples with different genotypes, in the range of 10-90 percentile, while dots represent samples out of range. The stars represent significance at different levels: \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, \*\*\*\*p < 0.0001. Values are expressed as means  $\pm$  SD. wt: wild type allele; mt: mutant allele; TK: "empty" vector without insert; NC: negative control (with random sequence); ns: not significant; AU: arbitrary unit. Rearranged figure from Kulin et al. (45).

#### 5.3. Regulatory background of GLUT1 expression

#### 5.3.1. Metabolic factors

Since GLUT1 plays a significant role in glucose homeostasis, related metabolic factors can influence the expression level of GLUT1, which is supported by several previous studies (101–103). In the following we examined whether the effect of the SNPs change with different conditions, such as the reduced glucose and oxygen level, and the adding of insulin. The measurements were performed in the metabolically more relevant HepG2 cells.

In case of rs1385129 and rs841848, under low glucose concentrations a difference appears in the effect on luciferase activity between the wild-type and mutant alleles. In contrast, for rs841847 and rs11537641, the significant difference between the effects of the two alleles disappears (**Fig.8. A-D/1**). Interestingly, in case of rs841848, the presence of the FBS in the medium seems to have an influence on the outcome, as the removal of the FBS (for glucose and insulin treatments) results in an increased luciferase expression in the presence of the minor SNP, while for the hypoxia treatment, in FBS containing medium, decreased luciferase expression was observed. Insulin treatment (**Fig.8. A-D/2**) did not cause major changes, while under hypoxic conditions luciferase activity significantly increased regardless of the inserts or alleles used (**Fig.8. A-D/3**).





Figure 8. The effect of the examined SNPs on luciferase activity under glucose, insulin, and hypoxia treatments. In case of rs1385129 and rs841848, under low glucose concentrations, a difference in the effect on luciferase activity between the wild-type and mutant alleles appears. In contrast, for rs841847 and rs11537641, the significant difference between the effects of the two alleles disappears. Insulin treatment did not cause major changes, while under hypoxic conditions luciferase activity significantly increased independent of the alleles. The stars represent significance at different levels: \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, \*\*\*p < 0.0001. Values are expressed as means  $\pm$  SD. Data were normalized to the results of the "empty" vector. wt: wild type allele; mt: mutant allele; ns: not significant. Rearranged figure from Kulin et al. (45).

#### 5.3.2. Transcription factors

According to our bioinformatics analysis, there are several predicted transcription factor (TF) binding sites that are altered in the presence of the tested SNPs (**see Table 9**). In the presence of the wild-type allele of the rs1385129 variant, we found binding sites for EGR1, CTCF and GCM1, while in the presence of the mutant allele, a new binding site appears for the ZNF281 transcriptional regulator. In case of the mutant allele of rs841847, we found that binding sites for ARNT2, BHLHE40, BHLHE41, ARNTL transcription factors disappeared, compared to the reference sequence. The wild type allele of the rs841848 variant affects the binding sites for two important transcriptional regulators (ZNF460 and ZNF528), while the sequence with the mutant allele introduces novel binding sites for STAT proteins (Stat1, Stat5a/b). In case of the variant rs11537641, the sequence with the wild type allele contains binding sites for the ZFP57 and Zfx transcriptional activators, while the mutant allele displays binding sites for ZBTB32, SREBF1, SREBF2 and FOXK1.

#### DOI:10.14753/SE.2025.3029

**Table 9. Predicted transcription factor binding sites in the region of the examined SNPs.** The table shows the binding sites (sequence) of the transcription factors (TF name) affected by one of the alleles of the SNPs. The concerned DNA strand and the T2DM-specific function of the TFs are also described. The p-value refers to the binding probability of the TFs. Strands labelled as 'D' (direct) and 'R' (reverse). The alleles of the examined SNPs are labelled with red color. Table from Kulin et al. (45).

SNP ID	Allele	TF Name	Strand	Sequence	P-value	Relevant function
rs1385129	wild	EGR1	D	CTCCTCCCACGGCC	3.2×10 <sup>-4</sup>	response to glucose, insulin, hypoxia
rs1385129	wild	CTCF	D	CGGCCAGCATGAGGCGA CC	1.8×10 <sup>-4</sup>	-
rs1385129	wild	GCM1	R	CATGCTGGCCG	2.4×10 <sup>-4</sup>	-
rs1385129	mutant	Znf281	R	GCTGTGGGAGG	2.2×10 <sup>-4</sup>	-
rs841847	wild	ARNT2	R	GTCCCGTGCA	2.6×10 <sup>-4</sup>	response to hypoxia
rs841847	wild	BHLHE40	D	TGCA <mark>C</mark> GGGAC	4.9×10 <sup>-4</sup>	-
rs841847	wild	BHLHE40	R	GTCCCGTGCA	2.5×10 <sup>-4</sup>	-
rs841847	wild	BHLHE41	R	GTCCCGTGCA	4.4×10 <sup>-4</sup>	-
rs841847	wild	ARNTL	R	TGTCCCGTGC	$1.1 \times 10^{-4}$	-
rs841848	wild	ZNF528	R	<b>C</b> GGGAGGAAGGCTTTCC	$2.5 \times 10^{-4}$	-
rs841848	wild	ZNF460	D	AAGCCTTCCTCCCGAG	2.5×10 <sup>-4</sup>	-
rs841848	mutant	STAT5a/ STAT5b	D	CCTCCCAAGAA	1.3×10 <sup>-4</sup>	response to insulin
rs841848	mutant	STAT1	R	GTTCTTGGGAG	4.9×10 <sup>-4</sup>	cellular response to insulin
rs841848	mutant	Stat5a	D	CTCCCAAGAACC	$2.7 \times 10^{-4}$	response to insulin
rs11537641	wild	ZFP57	D	GTCAGGCC <mark>G</mark> CAGT	$4.4 \times 10^{-4}$	-
rs11537641	wild	Zfx	R	TGTACTGCGGCCTG	$1.1 \times 10^{-4}$	-
rs11537641	mutant	SREBF1	D	GTCAGGCCAC	2.8×10 <sup>-4</sup>	response to glucose, insulin
rs11537641	mutant	SREBF2	R	GTGGCCTGAC	$1.2 \times 10^{-4}$	-
rs11537641	mutant	ZBTB32	R	TGTACTG <mark>T</mark> GG	$1.6 \times 10^{-4}$	-
rs11537641	mutant	FOXK1	D	ACAGTACACCCGA	4.2×10 <sup>-4</sup>	cellular glucose homeostasis

#### 5.4. SLC2A1 SNPs and ABCG2-Q141K variant in type two diabetes

The final objective of my work was the observation of SNP frequency in control and type 2 diabetic samples. Based on previous studies, 3 SNPs (rs1385129, rs841847, rs841848) are associated with some complications of the disease, and in case of rs841847 even with T2DM (59). However, despite these previous results of the GLUT1 SNPs, no significant differences were observed among the examined groups in our examination. When studying the SNP rs2231142 (i.e., C421A) leading to the ABCG2-Q141K variant, there was also no significant difference between the control and the T2DM patients (**Fig.9.**). Due to the low sample size, we performed the analysis by combining the heterozygous and homozygous groups, but we did not find any significant differences between the groups. As the *SLC2A1* SNPs has been previously investigated in association with disease-related complications (diabetic, nephropathy, retinopathy) we also planned to analyze the allele frequencies in these samples, however with the total of 23 cases (albuminuria (n=16), neuropathy (n=11), nephropathy (n=7), retinopathy (n=4)) we were not able to get statistically relevant information.



**Figure 9. Genotype frequencies of the** *SLC2A1* **and** *ABCG2* **SNPs in control and T2DM groups.** No significant differences were found between the groups, neither for the *SLC2A1* SNPs (rs1385129, rs841847, rs841848, rs11537641) nor for the *ABCG2* SNP (rs2231142/C421A; Q141K). Figures of the *SLC2A1* SNPs originate from Kulin et al. (45), while the figure of the *ABCG2* SNP was made based on Table 2 from Szabo et al. (93).

#### DOI:10.14753/SE.2025.3029

In addition to studying direct associations between the SNPs and the disease, we also investigated the indirect relationship based on disease-associated laboratory parameters. By analyzing the 4 examined *SLC2A1* SNPs in association with T2DM related laboratory parameters, there was no difference between the control and the T2DM groups. However, in case of the ABCG2-Q141K variant, we found significantly higher blood glucose and HbA1c levels in the T2DM patients carrying the ABCG2-Q141K variant (**Fig.10.**).



Figure 10. Blood glucose (Panel A), HbA1c (Panel B) and uric acid (Panel C) levels and the presence of the Q141K variant in the control and the T2DM groups. Values are expressed as means  $\pm$  SE. wt: ABCG2 wild type; mt: hetero- and homozygotes for the C421A (ABCG2-Q141K) variant. Star (\*) indicates a significant difference obtained in the individuals carrying the Q141K variant \*p<0.05. The p values were calculated by Student's t test. Visually modified Figure from Szabo et al. (93).

## 6. Discussion

Membrane proteins play a key role in biological processes, and their quantitative changes are important under various pathological conditions. Therefore, several of these proteins are particularly important in drug development. Notably, members of the SLC and ABC transporter superfamily are of outstanding significance in this regard, as they influence the absorption, distribution, metabolism, excretion, and toxicity (ADME-Tox) of the drugs (4).

Type two diabetes mellitus is one of the most common metabolic diseases nowadays, and several membrane transporters play a crucial role in the development, progression, and treatment of the disease (90,91). In my thesis work I have investigated two membrane proteins in association with T2DM.

The primary focus of my thesis centered around the GLUT1 membrane protein. This transporter belongs to the SLC superfamily, specifically categorized within the SLC2A (GLUT) protein family. The GLUT1 membrane protein is a key player in the cellular glucose uptake from the blood, especially in tissues directly depending on glucose metabolism. These include the human RBCs, the brain and kidney vascular tissues, as well as numerous malignant tissues (29,50,51). Based on its function, alterations in GLUT1 expression can be linked to complex metabolic diseases, including type 2 diabetes and Alzheimer's disease (49). These changes usually have a regulatory background, driven by frequent genetic variations (polymorphism). In the GLUT1 study, I investigated the genetic and regulatory background of GLUT1 expression, as well as its possible association with T2DM.

The other branch of my work was about another important protein, ABCG2. In this study we have examined the potential relationship between the presence of the rs2231142 (C421A) SNP (results in the ABCG2-Q141K protein variant) and type two diabetes. We focused on the potential associations between the occurrence of this SNP variant and the basic metabolic parameters in T2DM (blood glucose, HbA1c, and uric acid levels).

The ABCG2-Q141K protein variant has a reduced stability and plasma membrane expression (104,105). It is also known that this variant significantly contributes to elevated serum uric acid levels and gout development (106–108). Wei et al. found that the diabetes indicator, HbA1c significantly correlated with serum uric acid level, which

raises the question if ABCG2-Q141K has a role in this association (79). Since ABCG2 function is also an important determinant of the ADME-Tox properties of numerous drugs, including those (e.g. metformin) used in the treatment of T2DM, this polymorphism may also affect the treatment efficacy of this disease (109–112).

#### 6.1. GLUT1 expression and type two diabetes

According to my results, there is no association between T2DM and the expression level of GLUT1 membrane protein in RBCs. However, in a previous study significantly higher GLUT1 expression have been described in the placenta in patients with gestational diabetes, T1DM (54) and T2DM (55). This suggest that GLUT1 expression may have a cell-specific influence on the disease. Furthermore, the different expression level might have a role in the progression of T2DM. In a nephropathic rat model, it was found that hyperglycemia induces increased GLUT1 expression in the glomerular cells. The authors suggested that these cells fail to decrease GLUT1 expression as a respond to elevated extracellular glucose level, which was observed in other cell types, and the increased glucose uptake cause damage in the kidney cells, which may contribute to the development of nephropathy (53).

In our experiments, the expression levels of certain samples showed large deviation from the mean level. Behind it, we hypothesized regulatory changes, which can occur because of genetic variants. Therefore, my next step was to investigate the genetic (polymorphisms, mutations) and regulatory (metabolic factors, transcription factors) background of this phenomenon. Since there is no difference between the expression level of the control and case groups, in further experiments, I analyzed the combined values of the two groups. Therefore, I was able to obtain a relatively large number of samples and thus statistically more reliable results in genotyping analysis.

#### 6.2. Genetic background of GLUT1 expression

In order to assess the relevance of genetic factors in complex diseases, GWAS and case-control studies are widely performed (113). However, the potential connection between direct protein expression levels and the presence of genetic variants is not specifically explored. To find such specific associations, in the present work we have performed a flow cytometry analysis to determine the expression level of GLUT1 in

RBC membrane and examined the role of the potentially connected SNPs by reporter expression studies.

Based on previous case-control studies (56–58) and our own sequencing experiments, we have selected four SNPs within the *SLC2A1* gene, to be examined in detail (rs1385129, rs841847, rs841848, rs11537641). Two of these variants (rs1385129, rs841848) are parts of relatively large haplotypes, thus, as lead SNPs, they provide information for relatively large regulatory segments of this gene.

As shown in the results chapter, the minor allele of three of the variants (rs1385129, rs841848, and rs11537641) significantly increased RBC GLUT1 expression, while the mutant allele of rs841847 had decreasing effect. To analyze the direct modulation effect of the SNPs, we used luciferase reporter expression constructs of the surrounding genetic areas.

Our detailed reporter assays demonstrated that the putative enhancer element within intron 2 of the *SLC2A1* gene, containing SNPs rs841847 and rs841848, is a functional enhancer in the human, similar to what was observed in mice (43). In addition, the insert containing the rs1385129, also shows a strong enhancer/promoter effect, while the region of rs11537641, had a suppressor effect in HEK cells.

Regarding the specific modulatory roles of these SNPs, the minor variant of rs1385129 slightly increased luciferase expression in the (renal derived) HEK-293T cells, while not in the (liver derived) HepG2 model cells. The difference in these results suggests that this SNP has a cell-specific effect. The human embryonic kidney derived (HEK) cells may reflect kidney-type regulatory features and rs1385129 was previously described as risk factor in diabetic nephropathy. Besides, as mentioned earlier, Heilig et al. found that GLUT1 expression increased in the renal glomerular cells of the nephropathic rat model (53). Taken together, this variant may contribute to diabetic nephropathy through the regulation of GLUT1 expression. The minor allele of rs841847 significantly decreased the luciferase expression in both cell types, and these results correlate with the outcome of the GLUT1 expression measurements, which means that this SNP has a general modulatory effect on the gene expression. The minor allele of rs841848 had no significant effect on luciferase expression in HEK-293T cells, but it showed an FBS-dependent effect in HepG2 cells. Here, there is a contradiction between the results of the RBC GLUT1 expression and the luciferase activity in HEK293T and

HepG2 cells. This might indicate an erythroid specific regulation, or it could mean that this is not a causal SNP, just a marker reflecting the modulating effect of another member from the haplotype. The minor allele of the rs11537641 variant significantly increased the luciferase expression in the HepG2 cells, which indicates a tissue-dependent effect of the variant. Taken together, these results suggest that three out of the four SNPs (rs1385129, rs841847, rs11537641) are eQTLs by directly influencing the expression of GLUT1, while the causality of the rs841848 SNP is questionable.

#### 6.3. Regulatory background of GLUT1 expression

#### 6.3.1. Metabolic factors

To investigate how metabolic factors modulate the effects of SNPs, we selected factors based on established literature. The regulatory effect of glucose (53), insulin (102) and hypoxia (103) on GLUT1 expression have been described in several previous studies.

In our experiments in HepG2 cells, condition-dependent and in some cases, SNPdependent effects were observed. In case of rs1385129 and rs841848, under low glucose concentrations a difference appears in the effect on luciferase activity between the wildtype and mutant alleles. In contrast, for rs841847 and rs11537641, the significant difference between the effects of the two alleles disappears. These results indicate that the effect of the SNPs changes with the glucose level. The direct effect of insulin addition did not appreciably modify the reporter expression responses in the HepG2 cells. The effect of hypoxia, however increased the luciferase expression in case of all variants, corresponding to the observed regulation of the GLUT1 transporter in hypoxic conditions (103,114,115). These results highlight the dynamic nature of the interactions between genetic variants and metabolic factors in the HepG2 model cells, emphasizing the importance of considering environmental factors in understanding the functional consequences of genetic variations.

#### 6.3.2. Transcription factors

The investigation of the transcription factor binding sites (TFBS) can be essential to understand the expression of the proteins, and the biological processes behind them. The bioinformatic analysis revealed several predicted transcription factor (TF) binding sites that are altered in the presence of the tested SNPs. In case of rs1385129, we found three unique binding sites (EGR1, CTCF and GCM1) in the presence of the wild-type (wt) allele. Since EGR1 has an important role in the response to glucose (116), insulin (117) and hypoxia (118) this change may have major regulatory consequences. In the presence of the mutant allele, a new binding site appears for the ZNF281 transcriptional regulator. In the presence of the mutant allele of rs841847, five TF binding sites disappear, compared to the wt allele, including ARNT2, potentially related to hypoxia responses (119). The wild type allele of rs841848 affect binding sites for ZNF460 and ZNF528, while the sequence with the mutant allele has new binding sites for STAT proteins (Stat1, Stat5a, Stat5b), important in regulating cellular responses to insulin (120,121). In the case of the variant rs11537641 the sequence with the wild type allele contains binding sites for ZFP57 and Zfx, while the mutant allele affects four transcriptional factor binding sites (ZBTB32, SREBF1, SREBF2 and FOXK1). SREBF1 have a role in several cellular responses, including those related to insulin receptor (122), while FOXK1 affects cellular glucose homeostasis (123). Overall, this analysis provided insights into how transcription factor binding sites can be altered by the presence of an SNP and suggests that the effect of the SNPs on protein expression may manifest through these altered TF binding sites and the related regulation. However, experimental verification is needed to confirm this suggestion. For this, overexpression and knockout studies would be appropriate methods for observing the direct effect of the predicted transcription factors on GLUT1 expression. Besides, by using the same dual-luciferase system, we would be able to analyze if there is any change in the effect of the genetic variants.

#### 6.4. SLC2A1 SNPs and ABCG2-Q141K variant in type two diabetes

In addition to GLUT1, the other subject of my thesis is the Q141K variant of the ABCG2 protein. These independent studies can be connected through the common focus on type 2 diabetes.

Based on previous studies, in *SLC2A1*, three SNPs (rs1385129, rs841847, rs841848) are associated with some complications of the disease, and in case of rs841847 even with T2DM (59). Variant rs1385129 was found to increase the risk of diabetic nephropathy in Tunisian (56) and Kurdish (57) cohorts. The minor allele of the

rs841847 SNP has been described as a risk factor in diabetic retinopathy and nephropathy (58), but results for rs841848 have been controversial (56,60,61). Reasons for these conflicting results may be genetic heterogeneity in different populations or clinical heterogeneity in different studies. In my thesis, comparing control and T2DM groups, no significant differences were observed. One possible reason is that these SNPs have been described as risk factors in T2DM complications. Although we included samples with complications in our study, the limited sample size was insufficient for statistical analysis.

In case of *ABCG2*, when studying the SNP rs2231142 (i.e., C421A) leading to the ABCG2-Q141K variant, there was no difference in the frequency of this SNP between the control and the T2DM patients. Due to the low sample size, we performed the analysis by combining the heterozygous and homozygous groups, but even then, we did not find any significant differences between the groups. However, we found that T2DM patients carrying the SNP had significantly higher blood glucose levels than patients carrying only the wild-type alleles. In addition, the HbA1c levels, indicative of long-term blood glucose alterations, were also significantly higher in the T2DM patients carrying this SNP. In contrast, in the control group, the presence of the Q141K variant did not show any association with blood glucose or HbA1c levels. Interestingly, in a previous study they found that metformin, which drug is used as a treatment of T2DM, is transported by ABCG2 (111). These results suggest a potential role of the ABCG2-Q141K variant in T2DM. This role could either manifest through the combination with other genetic and environmental factors, or it could have an indirect role in T2DM through influencing treatment efficiency.

Consistent with its known role in uric acid transport, the ABCG2-Q141K variant resulted in significantly elevated plasma uric acid levels in the control population. However, this increased uric acid level was not observed in the type 2 diabetic patients. This may reflect the treatment of these patients, which included the xanthine oxidase inhibitor, allopurinol, in several cases. Allopurinol is commonly used in the treatment of conditions related to high levels of uric acid, such as gout. Xanthine oxidase is an enzyme involved in the conversion of hypoxanthine and xanthine to uric acid. By inhibiting this enzyme with allopurinol, the production of uric acid is reduced, which may explain the unexpected results.

## 7. Conclusions

### 7.1. GLUT1 expression and type 2 diabetes

- No direct association was observed between RBC GLUT1 expression levels and type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM).
- GLUT1 expression levels show a relatively wide range, in the background of which I found SNPs that, based on previous data, showed association with T2DM or its complications.

### 7.2. Genetic background of GLUT1 expression

- Four SNPs within the *SLC2A1* gene (rs1385129, rs841847, rs841848, rs11537641) were examined, revealing significant effects on RBC GLUT1 expression.
- Minor alleles of rs1385129, rs841848, and rs11537641 significantly increased, while rs841847 decreased the RBC GLUT1 expression.
- Reporter assays indicated the functional roles of these SNPs.
- The impact of rs841847 was consistent in both HEK293-T and HepG2 cell lines, while rs1385129 and rs11537641 exhibited cell-specific effects.
- Controversial results for rs841848 suggest a potential association with the GLUT1 expression pattern through another SNP in the haplotype.

## 7.3. Regulatory background of GLUT1 expression

- Metabolic factors such as glucose, insulin, and hypoxia showed variable effects on reporter expression responses.
- The effect of the SNPs is influenced by the glucose level. In case of rs1385129 and rs841848, under low glucose concentrations a difference appears in the effect between the wild-type and mutant alleles on luciferase activity. In contrast, for rs841847 and rs11537641, the significant difference between the effects of the two alleles disappears.
- Transcription factor binding site analysis revealed important alterations in the presence of the tested SNPs, suggesting their role in the regulatory network of GLUT1 expression.

### 7.4. SLC2A1 SNPs and ABCG2-Q141K variant in type 2 diabetes

- The three SNPs (rs1385129, rs841847, rs841848) previously described as risk factors in T2DM or its complications were not associated with the disease in this cohort.
- The ABCG2-Q141K variant did not show direct association with T2DM but was associated with higher blood glucose and HbA1c levels in T2DM patients.
- The presence of the ABCG2-Q141K variant may affect the treatment response and contribute to long-term blood glucose alterations in T2DM patients.

## 8. Summary

Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) is a complex metabolic disease and various membrane transporters affect the development, progression, or treatments of the disease. In my work I have investigated two membrane proteins in association with T2DM. The GLUT1 membrane protein is a key glucose transporter in numerous cell types. The expression level of this protein has a role in several diseases, including cancer, Alzheimer's disease and T2DM. The ABCG2 protein is a multispecific xeno-and endobiotic transporter, affecting drug metabolism and playing a key role in uric acid extrusion. The ABCG2-Q141K variant, with reduced expression level has been shown to significantly affect gout development. Several other diseases, including T2DM have also been reported to be associated with high serum uric acid levels, suggesting that ABCG2 may also play a role in these conditions.

In this work GLUT1 expression level was measured in RBCs by flow cytometry, while the genetic background was analyzed by qPCR and luciferase assays. The C421A (Q141K) variant of *ABCG2* was determined by genotyping.

We found significant associations between RBC GLUT1 levels and four SNPs. In individuals with the minor alleles of rs841848, rs1385129, and rs11537641 had increased, while in those having the variant rs841847 had decreased erythrocyte GLUT1 levels. In the luciferase reporter studies performed in HEK-293T and HepG2 cells, a similar SNP-dependent modulation was observed in most cases. These associations were linked to potential regulatory factors, including reduced glucose or serum levels, hypoxic conditions, and alterations in transcription factor binding sites.

In the ABCG2-Q141K study we have compared cohorts of T2DM patients and healthy individuals regarding the major laboratory indicators of T2DM and determined the presence of the SNP rs2231142 (C421A), resulting in the ABCG2-Q141K protein variant. We found significantly higher blood glucose and HbA1c levels in the T2DM patients carrying the ABCG2-Q141K variant.

Our research on GLUT1 may contribute to a more detailed understanding of the genetic and regulatory background of GLUT1 expression and its potential role in associated diseases. The examination of the ABCG2-Q141K variant emphasizes the potential metabolic role of ABCG2 in the progression but also in the prevention and treatment of T2DM.

## 9. References

- Zhang Lei, Huang Shiew-Mei, Reynolds Kellie, Madabushi Rajanikanth, Zineh Issam. Transporters in Drug Development: Scientific and Regulatory Considerations. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2018 Nov;104(5)793–796.
- Vasiliou Vasilis, Vasiliou Konstandinos, Nebert Daniel W. Human ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporter family. Hum Genomics. 2009 Apr;3(3)281–290.
- Hediger Matthias A, Clémençon Benjamin, Burrier Robert E, Bruford Elspeth A. The ABCs of membrane transporters in health and disease (SLC series): introduction. Mol Aspects Med. 2013;34(2–3)95–107.
- Szakács Gergely, Váradi András, Ozvegy-Laczka Csilla, Sarkadi Balázs. The role of ABC transporters in drug absorption, distribution, metabolism, excretion and toxicity (ADME-Tox). Drug Discov Today. 2008 May;13(9–10)379–393.
- Colas Claire, Ung Peter Man-Un, Schlessinger Avner. SLC Transporters: Structure, Function, and Drug Discovery. Medchemcomm. 2016 Jun;7(6)1069– 1081.
- Liu Edison T. The Human Genome Organisation (HUGO). Hugo J. 2009 Dec;3(1-4)3-4.
- Pizzagalli Mattia D, Bensimon Ariel, Superti-Furga Giulio. A guide to plasma membrane solute carrier proteins. FEBS J. 2021 May;288(9)2784–2835.
- Lin Lawrence, Yee Sook Wah, Kim Richard B, Giacomini Kathleen M. SLC transporters as therapeutic targets: emerging opportunities. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2015 Aug;14(8)543–560.
- Amberger Joanna S, Bocchini Carol A, Schiettecatte François, Scott Alan F, Hamosh Ada. OMIM.org: Online Mendelian Inheritance in Man (OMIM®), an online catalog of human genes and genetic disorders. Nucleic Acids Res. 2015 Jan;43(Database issue)D789-98.
- 10. Williams Amy L, Jacobs Suzanne B R, Moreno-Macías Hortensia, Huerta-Chagoya Alicia, Churchhouse Claire, Márquez-Luna Carla, García-Ortíz Humberto, Gómez-Vázquez María José, Burtt Noël P, Aguilar-Salinas Carlos A, González-Villalpando Clicerio, Florez Jose C, Orozco Lorena, Haiman Christopher A, Tusié-Luna Teresa, Altshuler David. Sequence variants in SLC16A11 are a common risk factor for type 2 diabetes in Mexico. Nature.

2014 Feb;506(7486)97–101.

- Tin Adrienne, Woodward Owen M, Kao Wen Hong Linda, Liu Ching-Ti, Lu Xiaoning, Nalls Michael A, ... Köttgen Anna. Genome-wide association study for serum urate concentrations and gout among African Americans identifies genomic risk loci and a novel URAT1 loss-of-function allele. Hum Mol Genet. 2011 Oct;20(20)4056–4068.
- César-Razquin Adrián, Girardi Enrico, Yang Mi, Brehme Marc, Saez-Rodriguez Julio, Superti-Furga Giulio. In silico Prioritization of Transporter-Drug Relationships From Drug Sensitivity Screens. Front Pharmacol. 2018;91011.
- Zhou Fanfan, Zhu Ling, Wang Ke, Murray Michael. Recent advance in the pharmacogenomics of human Solute Carrier Transporters (SLCs) in drug disposition. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2017 Jul;11621–36.
- Rask-Andersen Mathias, Masuram Surendar, Fredriksson Robert, Schiöth Helgi
   B. Solute carriers as drug targets: current use, clinical trials and prospective. Mol Aspects Med. 2013;34(2–3)702–710.
- Wright Ernest M. Glucose transport families SLC5 and SLC50. Mol Aspects Med. 2013;34(2–3)183–196.
- Chen Li-Qing, Cheung Lily S, Feng Liang, Tanner Widmar, Frommer Wolf B. Transport of sugars. Annu Rev Biochem. 2015;84865–894.
- 17. Vrhovac Ivana, Balen Eror Daniela, Klessen Dirk, Burger Christa, Breljak Davorka, Kraus Ognjen, Radović Nikola, Jadrijević Stipe, Aleksic Ivan, Walles Thorsten, Sauvant Christoph, Sabolić Ivan, Koepsell Hermann. Localizations of Na(+)-D-glucose cotransporters SGLT1 and SGLT2 in human kidney and of SGLT1 in human small intestine, liver, lung, and heart. Pflugers Arch. 2015 Sep;467(9)1881–1898.
- Rahmoune Hassan, Thompson Paul W, Ward Joanna M, Smith Chari D, Hong Guizhu, Brown John. Glucose transporters in human renal proximal tubular cells isolated from the urine of patients with non-insulin-dependent diabetes. Diabetes. 2005 Dec;54(12)3427–3434.
- Danne Thomas, Biester Torben, Kordonouri Olga. Combined SGLT1 and SGLT2 Inhibitors and Their Role in Diabetes Care. Diabetes Technol Ther. 2018 Jun;20(S2)S269–S277.

- 20. Chen Li-Qing, Hou Bi-Huei, Lalonde Sylvie, Takanaga Hitomi, Hartung Mara L, Qu Xiao-Qing, Guo Woei-Jiun, Kim Jung-Gun, Underwood William, Chaudhuri Bhavna, Chermak Diane, Antony Ginny, White Frank F, Somerville Shauna C, Mudgett Mary Beth, Frommer Wolf B. Sugar transporters for intercellular exchange and nutrition of pathogens. Nature. 2010 Nov;468(7323)527–532.
- Santer René, Hillebrand Georg, Steinmann Beat, Schaub Jürgen. Intestinal glucose transport: evidence for a membrane traffic-based pathway in humans. Gastroenterology. 2003 Jan;124(1)34–39.
- Mueckler Mike, Thorens Bernard. The SLC2 (GLUT) family of membrane transporters. Mol Aspects Med. 2013;34(2–3)121–138.
- Uldry M, Ibberson M, Horisberger J D, Chatton J Y, Riederer B M, Thorens B. Identification of a mammalian H(+)-myo-inositol symporter expressed predominantly in the brain. EMBO J. 2001 Aug;20(16)4467–4477.
- Yeagle Philip L. Cell Membrane Features. In: eLS. 3. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2015. p. 1–9.
- Mueckler Mike, Caruso C, Baldwin S A, Panico M, Blench I, Morris H R, Allard W J, Lienhard G E, Lodish H F. Sequence and structure of a human glucose transporter. Science. 1985 Sep;229(4717)941–945.
- Cheeseman Chris. GLUT7: a new intestinal facilitated hexose transporter. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2008 Aug;295(2)E238-41.
- Burant C F, Takeda J, Brot-Laroche E, Bell G I, Davidson N O. Fructose transporter in human spermatozoa and small intestine is GLUT5. J Biol Chem. 1992 Jul;267(21)14523–14526.
- 28. Kellett George L, Brot-Laroche Edith, Mace Oliver J, Leturque Armelle. Sugar absorption in the intestine: the role of GLUT2. Annu Rev Nutr. 2008;2835–54.
- Mueckler M. Facilitative glucose transporters. Eur J Biochem. 1994 Feb;219(3)713–725.
- Koranyi L, Bourey R E, James D, Mueckler M, Fiedorek F T Jr, Permutt M A. Glucose transporter gene expression in rat brain: Pretranslational changes associated with chronic insulin-induced hypoglycemia, fasting, and diabetes. Mol Cell Neurosci. 1991 Jun;2(3)244–252.
- 31. Shepherd P R, Gould G W, Colville C A, McCoid S C, Gibbs E M, Kahn B B.

Distribution of GLUT3 glucose transporter protein in human tissues. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1992 Oct;188(1)149–154.

- 32. Thorens B, Sarkar H K, Kaback H R, Lodish H F. Cloning and functional expression in bacteria of a novel glucose transporter present in liver, intestine, kidney, and beta-pancreatic islet cells. Cell. 1988 Oct;55(2)281–290.
- Berger Constantin, Zdzieblo Daniela. Glucose transporters in pancreatic islets. Pflugers Arch. 2020 Sep;472(9)1249–1272.
- Thorens B, Cheng Z Q, Brown D, Lodish H F. Liver glucose transporter: a basolateral protein in hepatocytes and intestine and kidney cells. Am J Physiol. 1990 Dec;259(6 Pt 1)C279-85.
- James D E, Strube M, Mueckler M. Molecular cloning and characterization of an insulin-regulatable glucose transporter. Nature. 1989 Mar;338(6210)83–87.
- 36. Ni Wei-Jian, Guan Xi-Mei, Zeng Jing, Zhou Hong, Meng Xiao-Ming, Tang Li-Qin. Berberine regulates mesangial cell proliferation and cell cycle to attenuate diabetic nephropathy through the PI3K/Akt/AS160/GLUT1 signalling pathway. J Cell Mol Med. 2022 Feb;26(4)1144–1155.
- Douard Veronique, Ferraris Ronaldo P. Regulation of the fructose transporter GLUT5 in health and disease. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2008 Aug;295(2)E227-37.
- Caulfield Mark J, Munroe Patricia B, O'Neill Deb, Witkowska Kate, Charchar Fadi J, Doblado Manuel, ... Cheeseman Chris. SLC2A9 is a high-capacity urate transporter in humans. PLoS Med. 2008 Oct;5(10)e197.
- 39. Vitart Veronique, Rudan Igor, Hayward Caroline, Gray Nicola K, Floyd James, Palmer Colin N A, ... Wright Alan F. SLC2A9 is a newly identified urate transporter influencing serum urate concentration, urate excretion and gout. Nat Genet. 2008 Apr;40(4)437–442.
- Kasahara M, Hinkle P C. Reconstitution and purification of the D-glucose transporter from human erythrocytes. J Biol Chem. 1977 Oct;252(20)7384– 7390.
- 41. McCulloch Laura J, van de Bunt Martijn, Braun Matthias, Frayn Keith N, Clark Anne, Gloyn Anna L. GLUT2 (SLC2A2) is not the principal glucose transporter in human pancreatic beta cells: implications for understanding genetic

association signals at this locus. Mol Genet Metab. 2011 Dec;104(4)648-653.

- Deng Dong, Xu Chao, Sun Pengcheng, Wu Jianping, Yan Chuangye, Hu Mingxu, Yan Nieng. Crystal structure of the human glucose transporter GLUT1. Nature. 2014 Jun;510(7503)121–125.
- Ng Daniel P K, Canani Luis, Araki Shin-ichi, Smiles Adam, Moczulski Dariusz, Warram James H, Krolewski Andrzej S. Minor effect of GLUT1 polymorphisms on susceptibility to diabetic nephropathy in type 1 diabetes. Diabetes. 2002 Jul;51(7)2264–2269.
- 44. Barrett M P, Tetaud E, Seyfang A, Bringaud F, Baltz T. Trypanosome glucose transporters. Mol Biochem Parasitol. 1998 Mar;91(1)195–205.
- 45. Kulin Anna, Kucsma Nóra, Bohár Balázs, Literáti-Nagy Botond, Korányi László, Cserepes Judit, Somogyi Anikó, Sarkadi Balázs, Szabó Edit, Várady György. Genetic Modulation of the GLUT1 Transporter Expression-Potential Relevance in Complex Diseases. Biology (Basel). 2022 Nov;11(11).
- Gras D., Roze E., Caillet S., Méneret A., Doummar D., Billette De Villemeur T., Vidailhet M., Mochel F. GLUT1 deficiency syndrome: An update. Vol. 170, Revue Neurologique. 2014.
- Schwantje Marit, Verhagen Lilly M, van Hasselt Peter M, Fuchs Sabine A. Glucose transporter type 1 deficiency syndrome and the ketogenic diet. J Inherit Metab Dis. 2020 Mar;43(2)216–222.
- Winkler Ethan A, Nishida Yoichiro, Sagare Abhay P, Rege Sanket V, Bell Robert D, Perlmutter David, ... Zlokovic Berislav V. GLUT1 reductions exacerbate Alzheimer's disease vasculo-neuronal dysfunction and degeneration. Nat Neurosci. 2015 Apr;18(4)521–530.
- 49. Varady Gyorgy, Szabo Edit, Feher Agnes, Nemeth Adrienn, Zambo Boglarka, Pakaski Magdolna, Janka Zoltan Zoltán, Sarkadi Balazs Balázs, Várady György, Szabó Edit, Fehér Ágnes, Németh Adrienn, Zámbó Boglárka, Pákáski Magdolna, Janka Zoltan Zoltán, Sarkadi Balazs Balázs. Alterations of membrane protein expression in red blood cells of Alzheimer's disease patients. Alzheimer's Dement (Amsterdam, Netherlands). 2015 Sep;1(3)334–338.
- 50. Meng Ying, Xu Xi, Luan Hongyu, Li Lei, Dai Wenhao, Li Zhiyu, Bian Jinlei. The progress and development of GLUT1 inhibitors targeting cancer energy

metabolism. Future Med Chem. 2019 Sep;11(17)2333–2352.

- 51. Chung Fu-Yen, Huang Ming-Yii, Yeh Ching-Sheng, Chang Hui-Jen, Cheng Tian-Lu, Yen Li-Chen, Wang Jaw-Yuan, Lin Shiu-Ru. GLUT1 gene is a potential hypoxic marker in colorectal cancer patients. BMC Cancer. 2009 Jul;9241.
- 52. Boström P J, Thoms J, Sykes J, Ahmed O, Evans A, van Rhijn B W G, Mirtti T, Stakhovskyi O, Laato M, Margel D, Pintilie M, Kuk C, Milosevic M, Zlotta A R, Bristow R G. Hypoxia Marker GLUT-1 (Glucose Transporter 1) is an Independent Prognostic Factor for Survival in Bladder Cancer Patients Treated with Radical Cystectomy. Bl cancer (Amsterdam, Netherlands). 2016 Jan;2(1)101–109.
- 53. Heilig C W, Liu Y, England R L, Freytag S O, Gilbert J D, Heilig K O, Zhu M, Concepcion L A, Brosius F C 3rd. D-glucose stimulates mesangial cell GLUT1 expression and basal and IGF-I-sensitive glucose uptake in rat mesangial cells: implications for diabetic nephropathy. Diabetes. 1997 Jun;46(6)1030–1039.
- 54. Stanirowski Paweł Jan, Szukiewicz Dariusz, Majewska Agata, Wątroba Mateusz, Pyzlak Michał, Bomba-Opoń Dorota, Wielgoś Mirosław. Placental expression of glucose transporters GLUT-1, GLUT-3, GLUT-8 and GLUT-12 in pregnancies complicated by gestational and type 1 diabetes mellitus. J Diabetes Investig. 2022 Mar;13(3)560–570.
- 55. Castillo-Castrejon Marisol, Yamaguchi Kyohei, Rodel Rachel L, Erickson Kathryn, Kramer Anita, Hirsch Nicole M, Rolloff Kristy, Jansson Thomas, Barbour Linda A, Powell Theresa L. Effect of type 2 diabetes mellitus on placental expression and activity of nutrient transporters and their association with birth weight and neonatal adiposity. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2021 Jul;532111319.
- 56. Makni K., Jarraya F., Rebaï M., Mnif F., Boudawara M., Hamza N., Rekik N., Abid M., Hachicha J., Granier C., Rebaï A., Ayadi H. Risk genotypes and haplotypes of the GLUT1 gene for type 2 diabetic nephropathy in the Tunisian population. Ann Hum Biol. 2008;35(5)490–498.
- 57. Amini Sabrieh, Javanmardi Mitra, Mokarizadeh Aram, Maroofi Farzad, Jalali Chiya, Azadi Namam-Ali N.-A., Mohammadi Hamid, Abdi Mohammad.

Association of HaeIII single nucleotide polymorphisms in the SLC2A1 gene with risk of diabetic nephropathy; evidence from Kurdish patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. QJM. 2016 Jun;109(6)399–404.

- 58. Siokas Vasileios, Fotiadou Anatoli, Dardiotis Efthimios, Kotoula M.G. Maria G, Tachmitzi S.V. Sophia V, Chatzoulis Dimitrios Z D.Z., Zintzaras Elias, Stefanidis Ioannis, Tsironi E.E. Evangelia E. SLC2A1 Tag SNPs in Greek Patients with Diabetic Retinopathy and Nephropathy. Ophthalmic Res. 2019;61(1)26–35.
- 59. Stefanidis I, Tziastoudi M, Tsironi E E, Dardiotis E, Tachmitzi S V, Fotiadou A, Pissas G, Kytoudis K, Sounidaki M, Ampatzis G, Mertens P R, Liakopoulos V, Eleftheriadis T, Hadjigeorgiou G M, Santos M, Zintzaras E. The contribution of genetic variants of SLC2A1 gene in T2DM and T2DM-nephropathy: association study and meta-analysis. Ren Fail. 2018 Nov;40(1)561–576.
- 60. Marques T., Patente T.A., Monteiro M.B., Cavaleiro A.M., Queiroz M.S., Nery M., de Azevedo M.J., Canani L.H., Parisi M.C., Moura-Neto A., Machado U.F., Corrêa-Giannella M.L. Association of single nucleotide polymorphisms in the gene encoding GLUT1 and diabetic nephropathy in Brazilian patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus. Clin Chim Acta. 2015;444170–175.
- Cui W., Du B., Zhou W., Jia Y., Sun G., Sun J., Zhang D., Yuan H., Xu F., Lu X., Luo P., Miao L. Relationship between five GLUT1 gene single nucleotide polymorphisms and diabetic nephropathy: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Mol Biol Rep. 2012;39(8)8551–8558.
- Gros P, Croop J, Housman D. Mammalian multidrug resistance gene: complete cDNA sequence indicates strong homology to bacterial transport proteins. Cell. 1986 Nov;47(3)371–380.
- Moitra Karobi, Dean Michael. Evolution of ABC transporters by gene duplication and their role in human disease. Biol Chem. 2011 Jan;392(1–2)29–37.
- 64. Dean M, Rzhetsky A, Allikmets R. The human ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporter superfamily. Genome Res. 2001 Jul;11(7)1156–1166.
- 65. Pisarev Andrey V, Skabkin Maxim A, Pisareva Vera P, Skabkina Olga V, Rakotondrafara Aurélie M, Hentze Matthias W, Hellen Christopher U T, Pestova

Tatyana V. The role of ABCE1 in eukaryotic posttermination ribosomal recycling. Mol Cell. 2010 Jan;37(2)196–210.

- 66. Tyzack J K, Wang X, Belsham G J, Proud C G. ABC50 interacts with eukaryotic initiation factor 2 and associates with the ribosome in an ATP-dependent manner. J Biol Chem. 2000 Nov;275(44)34131–34139.
- Beis Konstantinos. Structural basis for the mechanism of ABC transporters. Biochem Soc Trans. 2015 Oct;43(5)889–893.
- Walker J E, Saraste M, Runswick M J, Gay N J. Distantly related sequences in the alpha- and beta-subunits of ATP synthase, myosin, kinases and other ATPrequiring enzymes and a common nucleotide binding fold. EMBO J. 1982;1(8)945–951.
- Theodoulou Frederica L, Kerr Ian D. ABC transporter research: going strong 40 years on. Biochem Soc Trans. 2015 Oct;43(5)1033–1040.
- Locher Kaspar P. Mechanistic diversity in ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters. Nat Struct Mol Biol. 2016 Jun;23(6)487–493.
- 71. Saurin W, Hofnung M, Dassa E. Getting in or out: early segregation between importers and exporters in the evolution of ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters. J Mol Evol. 1999 Jan;48(1)22–41.
- 72. Sarkadi Balázs, Ozvegy-Laczka Csilla, Német Katalin, Váradi András. ABCG2 a transporter for all seasons. FEBS Lett. 2004 Jun;567(1)116–120.
- Kusuhara Hiroyuki, Sugiyama Yuichi. ATP-binding cassette, subfamily G (ABCG family). Pflugers Arch. 2007 Feb;453(5)735–744.
- 74. Ichida Kimiyoshi, Matsuo Hirotaka, Takada Tappei, Nakayama Akiyoshi, Murakami Keizo, Shimizu Toru, ... Suzuki Hiroshi. Decreased extra-renal urate excretion is a common cause of hyperuricemia. Nat Commun. 2012 Apr;3764.
- 75. Ishikawa Toshihisa, Aw Wanping, Kaneko Kiyoko. Metabolic Interactions of Purine Derivatives with Human ABC Transporter ABCG2: Genetic Testing to Assess Gout Risk. Pharmaceuticals (Basel). 2013 Nov;6(11)1347–1360.
- 76. Sándor Sára, Jordanidisz Theodora, Schamberger Anita, Várady György, Erdei Zsuzsa, Apáti Ágota, Sarkadi Balázs, Orbán Tamás I. Functional characterization of the ABCG2 5' non-coding exon variants: Stem cell specificity, translation efficiency and the influence of drug selection. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2016

Jul;1859(7)943-951.

- 77. Bircsak Kristin M, Moscovitz Jamie E, Wen Xia, Archer Faith, Yuen Poi Yu Sofia, Mohammed Moiz, Memon Naureen, Weinberger Barry I, Saba Laura M, Vetrano Anna M, Aleksunes Lauren M. Interindividual Regulation of the Breast Cancer Resistance Protein/ABCG2 Transporter in Term Human Placentas. Drug Metab Dispos. 2018 May;46(5)619–627.
- 78. Woodward Owen M, Köttgen Anna, Coresh Josef, Boerwinkle Eric, Guggino William B, Köttgen Michael. Identification of a urate transporter, ABCG2, with a common functional polymorphism causing gout. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009 Jun;106(25)10338–10342.
- 79. Wei Fengjiang, Chang Baocheng, Yang Xilin, Wang Yaogang, Chen Liming, Li Wei-Dong. Serum Uric Acid Levels were Dynamically Coupled with Hemoglobin A1c in the Development of Type 2 Diabetes. Sci Rep. 2016 Jun;628549.
- 80. Sanchez-Lozada Laura G, Rodriguez-Iturbe Bernardo, Kelley Eric E, Nakagawa Takahiko, Madero Magdalena, Feig Dan I, Borghi Claudio, Piani Federica, Cara-Fuentes Gabriel, Bjornstad Petter, Lanaspa Miguel A, Johnson Richard J. Uric Acid and Hypertension: An Update With Recommendations. Am J Hypertens. 2020 Jul;33(7)583–594.
- 81. Taniguchi Y, Hayashi T, Tsumura K, Endo G, Fujii S, Okada K. Serum uric acid and the risk for hypertension and Type 2 diabetes in Japanese men: The Osaka Health Survey. J Hypertens. 2001 Jul;19(7)1209–1215.
- 82. Zámbó Boglárka, Bartos Zsuzsa, Mózner Orsolya, Szabó Edit, Várady György, Poór Gyula, Pálinkás Márton, Andrikovics Hajnalka, Hegedűs Tamás, Homolya László, Sarkadi Balázs. Clinically relevant mutations in the ABCG2 transporter uncovered by genetic analysis linked to erythrocyte membrane protein expression. Sci Rep. 2018 May;8(1)7487.
- 83. Kasza Ildiko, Varady Gyorgy, Andrikovics Hajnalka, Koszarska Magdalena, Tordai Attila, Scheffer George L, Nemeth Adrienn, Szakacs Gergely, Sarkadi Balazs. Expression levels of the ABCG2 multidrug transporter in human erythrocytes correspond to pharmacologically relevant genetic variations. PLoS One. 2012;7(11)e48423.

- 84. Keskitalo Jenni E, Pasanen Marja K, Neuvonen Pertti J, Niemi Mikko. Different effects of the ABCG2 c.421C>A SNP on the pharmacokinetics of fluvastatin, pravastatin and simvastatin. Pharmacogenomics. 2009 Oct;10(10)1617–1624.
- International Diabetes Federation. IDF Diabetes Atlas. 10th ed. Brussels; 2021.
   141 p.
- Zheng Yan, Ley Sylvia H, Hu Frank B. Global aetiology and epidemiology of type 2 diabetes mellitus and its complications. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2018 Feb;14(2)88–98.
- Kaul Kirti, Tarr Joanna M, Ahmad Shamim I, Kohner Eva M, Chibber Rakesh. Introduction to diabetes mellitus. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2012;7711–11.
- Fletcher Barbara, Gulanick Meg, Lamendola Cindy. Risk factors for type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Cardiovasc Nurs. 2002 Jan;16(2)17–23.
- Pan Minglin, Han Ying, Si Rui, Guo Rui, Desai Ankit, Makino Ayako. Hypoxiainduced pulmonary hypertension in type 2 diabetic mice. Pulm Circ. 2017 Mar;7(1)175–185.
- 90. Saha Sarmistha. Association between the membrane transporter proteins and type
  2 diabetes mellitus. Expert Rev Clin Pharmacol. 2020 Mar;13(3)287–297.
- 91. Piya Milan K, Tahrani Abd A, Barnett Anthony H. Emerging treatment options for type 2 diabetes. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2010 Nov;70(5)631–644.
- 2. Classification and Diagnosis of Diabetes: Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes-2021. Diabetes Care. 2021 Jan;44(Suppl 1)S15–S33.
- 93. Szabó Edit, Kulin Anna, Mózner Orsolya, Korányi László, Literáti-Nagy Botond, Vitai Márta, Cserepes Judit, Sarkadi Balázs, Várady György. Potential role of the ABCG2-Q141K polymorphism in type 2 diabetes. PLoS One. 2021;16(12)e0260957.
- 94. Sarkadi Balázs, Varady Gyorgy, Kasza Ildiko. Quantitative determination of biomarkers in the erythrocyte cell membrane. EP 2839293 B1, 2012.
- 95. Varady Gyorgy, Cserepes Judit, Nemeth Adrienn, Szabo Edit, Sarkadi Balazs. Cell surface membrane proteins as personalized biomarkers: where we stand and where we are headed. Biomark Med. 2013 Oct;7(5)803–819.
- Szabó Edit, Kulin Anna, Korányi László, Literáti-Nagy Botond, Cserepes Judit, Somogyi Anikó, Sarkadi Balázs, Várady György. Alterations in erythrocyte

membrane transporter expression levels in type 2 diabetic patients. Sci Rep [Internet]. 2021 Feb 2;11(1)2765. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/33531564

- 97. Pálinkás Márton, Szabó Edit, Kulin Anna, Mózner Orsolya, Rásonyi Rita, Juhász Péter, Nagy Krisztina, Várady György, Vörös Dóra, Zámbó Boglárka, Sarkadi Balázs, Poór Gyula. Genetic polymorphisms and decreased protein expression of ABCG2 urate transporters are associated with susceptibility to gout, disease severity and renal-overload hyperuricemia. Clin Exp Med. 2022 Aug;
- Schill Daniel, Nord Joshua, Cirillo Lisa Ann. FoxO1 and FoxA1/2 form a complex on DNA and cooperate to open chromatin at insulin-regulated genes. Biochem Cell Biol. 2019 Apr;97(2)118–129.
- Chen Yen-Ju, Chueh Li-Yun, Lee Shi-Yun, Ma Peng-Fang, Chen Po-Chun, Hsu Shu-Hao. Coordinated regulation of miR-27 by insulin/CREB/Hippo contributes to insulin resistance. Cell Signal. 2021 May;81109930.
- 100. McKeown S R. Defining normoxia, physoxia and hypoxia in tumoursimplications for treatment response. Br J Radiol. 2014 Mar;87(1035)20130676.
- Pragallapati Sindhuri, Manyam Ravikanth. Glucose transporter 1 in health and disease. J Oral Maxillofac Pathol. 2019;23(3)443–449.
- 102. Cifuentes Manuel, García Maria A, Arrabal Pilar M, Martínez Fernando, Yañez María J, Jara Nery, Weil Bernardo, Domínguez Dolores, Medina Rodolfo A, Nualart Francisco. Insulin regulates GLUT1-mediated glucose transport in MG-63 human osteosarcoma cells. J Cell Physiol. 2011 Jun;226(6)1425–1432.
- 103. Zhang J Z, Behrooz A, Ismail-Beigi F. Regulation of glucose transport by hypoxia. Am J kidney Dis Off J Natl Kidney Found. 1999 Jul;34(1)189–202.
- 104. Furukawa Tomoka, Wakabayashi Kanako, Tamura Ai, Nakagawa Hiroshi, Morishima Yoshihiro, Osawa Yoichi, Ishikawa Toshihisa. Major SNP (Q141K) variant of human ABC transporter ABCG2 undergoes lysosomal and proteasomal degradations. Pharm Res. 2009 Feb;26(2)469–479.
- 105. Woodward Owen M, Tukaye Deepali N, Cui Jinming, Greenwell Patrick, Constantoulakis Leeza M, Parker Benjamin S, Rao Anjana, Köttgen Michael, Maloney Peter C, Guggino William B. Gout-causing Q141K mutation in ABCG2 leads to instability of the nucleotide-binding domain and can be corrected with

small molecules. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013 Mar;110(13)5223–5228.

- 106. Dehghan Abbas, Köttgen Anna, Yang Qiong, Hwang Shih-Jen, Kao Wh Linda, Rivadeneira Fernando, Boerwinkle Eric, Levy Daniel, Hofman Albert, Astor Brad C, Benjamin Emelia J, van Duijn Cornelia M, Witteman Jacqueline C, Coresh Josef, Fox Caroline S. Association of three genetic loci with uric acid concentration and risk of gout: a genome-wide association study. Lancet (London, England). 2008 Dec;372(9654)1953–1961.
- 107. Hoque Kazi Mirajul, Dixon Eryn E, Lewis Raychel M, Allan Jordyn, Gamble Gregory D, Phipps-Green Amanda J, Halperin Kuhns Victoria L, Horne Anne M, Stamp Lisa K, Merriman Tony R, Dalbeth Nicola, Woodward Owen M. The ABCG2 Q141K hyperuricemia and gout associated variant illuminates the physiology of human urate excretion. Nat Commun. 2020 Jun;11(1)2767.
- 108. Stiburkova Blanka, Pavelcova Katerina, Zavada Jakub, Petru Lenka, Simek Pavel, Cepek Pavel, Pavlikova Marketa, Matsuo Hirotaka, Merriman Tony R, Pavelka Karel. Functional non-synonymous variants of ABCG2 and gout risk. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2017 Nov;56(11)1982–1992.
- 109. Safar Zsolt, Kis Emese, Erdo Franciska, Zolnerciks Joseph K, Krajcsi Peter. ABCG2/BCRP: variants, transporter interaction profile of substrates and inhibitors. Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol. 2019 Apr;15(4)313–328.
- Liang Xiaomin, Giacomini Kathleen M. Transporters Involved in Metformin Pharmacokinetics and Treatment Response. J Pharm Sci. 2017 Sep;106(9)2245– 2250.
- 111. Hemauer Sarah J, Patrikeeva Svetlana L, Nanovskaya Tatiana N, Hankins Gary D V, Ahmed Mahmoud S. Role of human placental apical membrane transporters in the efflux of glyburide, rosiglitazone, and metformin. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2010 Apr;202(4)383.e1-7.
- 112. Gong Li, Goswami Srijib, Giacomini Kathleen M, Altman Russ B, Klein Teri E. Metformin pathways: pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics. Pharmacogenet Genomics. 2012 Nov;22(11)820–827.
- 113. K. Sanghera Dharambir, R. Blackett Piers. Type 2 Diabetes Genetics: Beyond GWAS. J Diabetes Metab. 2012;03(05).
- 114. Mamun Abdullah Al, Hayashi Hisaki, Yamamura Aya, Nayeem Md Junayed,

Sato Motohiko. Hypoxia induces the translocation of glucose transporter 1 to the plasma membrane in vascular endothelial cells. J Physiol Sci. 2020 Sep;70(1)44.

- 115. Wood I Stuart, Wang Bohan, Lorente-Cebrián Silvia, Trayhurn Paul. Hypoxia increases expression of selective facilitative glucose transporters (GLUT) and 2deoxy-D-glucose uptake in human adipocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2007 Sep;361(2)468–473.
- 116. Josefsen K, Sørensen L R, Buschard K, Birkenbach M. Glucose induces early growth response gene (Egr-1) expression in pancreatic beta cells. Diabetologia. 1999 Feb;42(2)195–203.
- 117. Shen Ning, Yu Xiao, Pan Fei-Yan, Gao Xiang, Xue Bin, Li Chao-Jun. An early response transcription factor, Egr-1, enhances insulin resistance in type 2 diabetes with chronic hyperinsulinism. J Biol Chem. 2011 Apr;286(16)14508– 14515.
- 118. Sperandio Sabina, Fortin Jessyka, Sasik Roman, Robitaille Lynda, Corbeil Jacques, de Belle Ian. The transcription factor Egr1 regulates the HIF-1alpha gene during hypoxia. Mol Carcinog. 2009 Jan;48(1)38–44.
- 119. Maltepe E, Keith B, Arsham A M, Brorson J R, Simon M C. The role of ARNT2 in tumor angiogenesis and the neural response to hypoxia. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2000 Jun;273(1)231–238.
- 120. Cox Aaron R, Chernis Natasha, Bader David A, Saha Pradip K, Masschelin Peter M, Felix Jessica B, Sharp Robert, Lian Zeqin, Putluri Vasanta, Rajapakshe Kimal, Kim Kang Ho, Villareal Dennis T, Armamento-Villareal Reina, Wu Huaizhu, Coarfa Cristian, Putluri Nagireddy, Hartig Sean M. STAT1 Dissociates Adipose Tissue Inflammation From Insulin Sensitivity in Obesity. Diabetes. 2020 Dec;69(12)2630–2641.
- 121. Chen J, Sadowski H B, Kohanski R A, Wang L H. Stat5 is a physiological substrate of the insulin receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997 Mar;94(6)2295–2300.
- 122. Bouchard-Mercier Annie, Rudkowska Iwona, Lemieux Simone, Couture Patrick, Pérusse Louis, Vohl Marie-Claude. SREBF1 gene variations modulate insulin sensitivity in response to a fish oil supplementation. Lipids Health Dis. 2014 Oct;13152.

123. Sakaguchi Masaji, Cai Weikang, Wang Chih-Hao, Cederquist Carly T, Damasio Marcos, Homan Erica P, Batista Thiago, Ramirez Alfred K, Gupta Manoj K, Steger Martin, Wewer Albrechtsen Nicolai J, Singh Shailendra Kumar, Araki Eiichi, Mann Matthias, Enerbäck Sven, Kahn C Ronald. FoxK1 and FoxK2 in insulin regulation of cellular and mitochondrial metabolism. Nat Commun. 2019 Apr;10(1)1582.

## 10. Bibliography of the candidate's publications

### 10.1. Publications related to the Ph.D. dissertation

- Kulin Anna, Kucsma Nóra, Bohár Balázs, Literáti-Nagy Botond, Korányi László, Cserepes Judit, Somogyi Anikó, Sarkadi Balázs, Szabó Edit, Várady György. Genetic Modulation of the GLUT1 Transporter Expression-Potential Relevance in Complex Diseases. Biology (Basel). 2022 Nov;11(11).
- Szabó Edit, Kulin Anna, Mózner Orsolya, Korányi László, Literáti-Nagy Botond, Vitai Márta, Cserepes Judit, Sarkadi Balázs, Várady György. Potential role of the ABCG2-Q141K polymorphism in type 2 diabetes. PLoS One. 2021;16(12)e0260957.

### 10.2. Other publications

- Szabó Edit, Kulin Anna, Korányi László, Literáti-Nagy Botond, Cserepes Judit, Somogyi Anikó, Sarkadi Balázs, Várady György. Alterations in erythrocyte membrane transporter expression levels in type 2 diabetic patients. Sci Rep [Internet]. 2021 Feb 2;11(1)2765. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/33531564
- Szabó Edit, Kulin Anna, Jezsó Bálint, Kucsma Nóra, Sarkadi Balázs, Várady György. Selective Fluorescent Probes for High-Throughput Functional Diagnostics of the Human Multidrug Transporter P-Glycoprotein (ABCB1). Int J Mol Sci. 2022 Sep;23(18).
- 3. Pálinkás Márton, Szabó Edit, Kulin Anna, Mózner Orsolya, Rásonyi Rita, Juhász Péter, Nagy Krisztina, Várady György, Vörös Dóra, Zámbó Boglárka, Sarkadi Balázs, Poór Gyula. Genetic polymorphisms and decreased protein expression of ABCG2 urate transporters are associated with susceptibility to gout, disease severity and renal-overload hyperuricemia. Clin Exp Med. 2022 Aug;

## 11. Acknowledgements

I would like to express my gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. György Várady, for his professional help and his patience towards me.

I am also grateful to Dr. Edit Szabó for her efforts, and for her ideas that helped me overcome challenges during my Ph.D.

Special thanks to Dr. Balázs Sarkadi, for his selfless help and creative contribution to my work.

I would like to thank Balázs Bohár for elevating the standards of my work through bioinformatics analyses and Dr. Boglárka Zámbó for teaching me the genetic analyses.

Many thanks to the colleagues including Orsolya Mózner, Kornélia Némethy, Nóra Kucsma, Zsuzsa Biczók and Krisztina Huszár.

I acknowledge the indispensable contributions of our clinical partners, Dr. László Korányi, Dr. Botond Literáti-Nagy, Dr. Márta Vitai, Dr. Judit Cserepes, and Dr. Anikó Somogyi.

A special note of appreciation to the voluntary blood donors for their willingness to undergo the inconvenience of a finger prick.

And finally, I express my heartfelt thanks to my family and friends, particularly my husband, György Gelencsér, for providing unwavering emotional support throughout my Ph.D. studies.